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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral Argument will crystallize the parties’ positions and assist this
Court in establishing the rule of law that will govern claims in this Circuit for
recovery and distribution of money stolen pursuant to a Ponzi scheme. The
Receiver contends that all obtainable funds belong to the Receivership Estate for
distribution to all fraud victims pro rata. Thus, the Receiver maintains that an
investor who cashed out one week before the receivership should recover the same
percentage of his investment as an investor who attempted to cash out one week
after the receivership. But the Appellees argue that investors who cashed out
before the receivership should recover 100% of their investment — even though
they were paid with money stolen from other investors — while those who
attempted to cash out later should divide the scheme’s meager leftovers. Oral
argument will assist the Court in determining which of these rules is more
consistent with precedent in analogous cases and with equitable principles that

govern receiverships such as this.
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
L Asserted Bases for District Court Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The underlying case is ancillary to a securities fraud case filed by the
SEC against numerous Stanford defendants, SEC v. Stanford Int’l Bank, Ltd., No.
3-09-CV-0298-N, in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Texas. Jurisdiction is based on 15 U.S.C.,, sections 77v(a) and 78aa and also on 28
U.S.C., section 754.

II.  Basis for Court of Appeals’s Jurisdiction

This is an appeal from the denial in part of a preliminary injunction
pursuant to 28 U.S.C., section 1292(a)(1).

III.  Filing Dates Establishing Timeliness of Appeal
The district court signed the challenged order on August 4, 2009. R.

477-79. The Receiver filed his notice of appeal on August 6, 2009. R. 480-81.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Does the Receiver for a Ponzi scheme have a viable claim for disgorgement
of money paid to some investors before the scheme collapsed when (i) the
money purports to be return of the investors’ principal, but (ii) the money
was, in fact, stolen from other investors?

2. Which of the following rules of distribution will the Court adopt to govern

this and future Ponzi-scheme receiverships in this Circuit?



(A) A pro rata rule, which seeks to return to each investor the same
percentage of his or her investment in the Ponzi scheme; or

(B) A first-come, first-serve rule, which allows investors who cash out
shortly before court intervention to recover 100% of their investments
while those who attempt to cash out a few days later receive virtually
nothing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is ancillary to an equity receivership arising out of a multi-
billion dollar fraudulent investment scheme. The district court authorized the
Receiver to freeze over 30,000 investor accounts while financial professionals
determined whether the accounts contain proceeds of the fraudulent activity. Once
these reviews were complete, the Receiver named several hundred investors as
relief defendants, seeking disgorgement of Ponzi-scheme proceeds that were stolen
from thousands of other investors and paid to the relief defendants under the guise
of returned principal plus interest.

The Receiver requested a preliminary injunction that would
effectively maintain the existing freeze over the relief defendants’ Stanford
investment accounts until the Receiver’s claims for disgorgement are adjudicated.
On July 31, 2009, the district court determined that, as a matter of law, the

Receiver has no claim against the relief defendants for disgorgement of stolen



money they received as purported return of their invested principal. Based on this
determination, the district court denied most of the Receiver’s application for a
preliminary injunction. In particular, the district court issued an injunction that
freezes the relief defendants’ accounts only to the extent of purported interest paid
to them above the amounts of their principal investments.

The district court stayed the effect of its ruling for ten days to allow
the Receiver to request relief from this Court before the relief defendants could
disperse the funds in question. On August 9, 2009, this Court granted the
Receiver’s Motion to Extend Injunction, imposing an account freeze on both
principal and interest while it decides this appeal.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS
I. The Stanford companies and their too-good-to-be-true CDs

This appeal involves pure questions of law. The following undisputed
facts are of record. In addition, most of these facts have been confirmed by
Stanford’s Chief Financial Officer, James Davis, who has pleaded guilty to his role
in running the Stanford Ponzi scheme. A copy of the plea agreement is attached as
Appendix B, and the Receiver requests that this Court take judicial notice of the
facts recited in it. See, e.g., Scholes v. Lehman, 56 F.3d 750, 762 (7th Cir. 1995)
(fraudulent conveyance case approving judicial notice of facts in defendant’s plea

agreement); In re Fin. Federated Title & Trust, Inc., 347 F.3d 880, 883 n.2, 892



(11th Cir. 2003) (affirming equitable lien against property purchased with
fraudulently obtained funds and noting that lower court took judicial notice of plea
agreement of one of the conspirators).

The Stanford companies (“Stanford”) were a sprawling web of more
than 130 entities across 14 countries, all controlled by Allen Stanford. R. 298, 302.
Although the companies offered a full range of brokerage and investment services,
their core objective was to sell certificates of deposit (“CDs”) issued by Stanford
International Bank Limited in Antigua (the “Bank”). Id. The companies achieved
this objective by promising above-market returns on the CDs and falsely assuring
investors that the CDs were backed by safe, liquid investments. R. 298, 303; Case
no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 1 at {2, 3, 8.

The Bank was nothing like a typical commercial bank. It did not offer
checking accounts and did not, in the normal course, make loans. R. 302. It had
one principal product line — certificates of deposit — and one principal source of
revenue — investor purchases of CDs. R. 298, 302. Substantially all of the funds
funneled into each of the Bank’s operating and money-market accounts were

proceeds from the sale of Bank CDs. R. 298, 307-08. These same accounts were

! This Court granted motions by both the appellant and appellees to supplement the record

with documents from related cases pending in the same the district court. However, the
supplemental record has not yet been certified. This brief will cite to documents to be included
in the supplemental record by their Docket Number in the district court.
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then the source of CD proceeds paid out to customers, such as the relief
defendants, who redeemed their CDs before court intervention. R. 298, 308.

For almost 15 years, the Bank represented that it consistently earned
high returns on its investment of CD purchases, ranging from 12.7% in 2007 to
13.93% in 1994. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 12-36 at 345; Doc. 13-9, SEC
App. 670; Doc. 13-49 at 1030. Since 1994, the Bank claimed that it never failed to
hit targeted investment returns in excess of 10%. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc.
12-42 at 407. The Bank claimed that its diversified portfolio of investments lost
only $110 million or 1.3% in 2008. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 12-56 at 540-
41. During the same period the S&P 500 lost 39% and the Dow Jones STOXX
Europe 500 Fund lost 41%. Id.

The Bank offered significantly higher rates on its CDs than
conventional banks and disproportionately large commissions to Stanford financial
advisors who sold CDs. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 12-55 at 531, 533; Doc. 13-
9 at 669. On November 28, 2008 the Bank quoted a rate of 5.375% on a 3-year
flex CD, while comparable U.S. banks’ CDs paid under 3.2%. Case no. 3:09-cv-
298-N, Doc. 12-56 at 541. The Bank paid a 1% commission to Stanford financial
advisors on the sale of each CD. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 13-9 at 669.

In its 2007 annual report, the Bank represented that its portfolio was

allocated in the following manner: 58.6% equity, 18.6% fixed income, 7.2%



precious metals and 15.6% alternative investments. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc.
13-32 at 871. In fact, approximately 80% of the Bank’s investment portfolio, the
so-called Tier III portfolio, was in unknown assets under the apparent control of
Allen Stanford and James Davis. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 12-4 at 31, 586.
And purported “earnings” on Bank investments were actually fabricated monthly
by Jim Davis and persons working at his direction and under his supervision. App.
B at 12-15. The earnings figures were pegged at whatever amount was needed to
give the Bank acceptable financial performance and capital ratios for regulatory
purposes. App. B at 14-15. In other words, earnings — at least for the last three
years and probably longer — were fictitious “plugged” numbers. Id.

The forensic analysis of cash flows for 2008 through February 17,
2009 indicates that funds from sales of new Bank CDs were used to make
purported interest and redemption payments on pre-existing CDs. R. 298, 303-04,
314-15. The Bank had to use CD sale proceeds for these redemptions because it
did not have sufficient assets, reserves and investments to cover the liabilities for
redemptions and interest payments. R. 303-04. “Although [the Bank] received
some returns on investments, these amounts were miniscule in comparison to the
obligations.” R. 298, 304. In other words, the Bank operated as a massive Ponzi
scheme. See BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 975 (abridged 8th ed. 2005) (defining a

Ponzi scheme as “[a] fraudulent investment scheme in which money contributed by



later investors generates artificially high dividends or returns for the original
investors”).

At the inception of the Receivership on February 16, 2009, the total
principal amount of outstanding Bank CDs was approximately $7.2 billion (U.S.),
according to Bank records. R. 298, 303. This $7.2 billion reflects a liability on the
books of the Bank, as it is owed to the investors. Id. Although the Bank financial
statements reflect investments valued at $8.3 billion (classified as assets) as of
December 31, 2008, the combined assets of all Stanford Entities (the Bank
included) actually have a total value of less than $1 billion. Id. The Bank is
insolvent and apparently has been for a considerable time. Id. The billions of
dollars bilked from Bank CD investors paid for lavish Stanford offices, an ultra-
luxurious lifestyle for Stanford principals and their families, a fleet of aircraft,
political contributions, athletic sponsorships, speculative “investments,” and the
list goes on.

II.  The lawsuit and preliminary orders

The SEC filed suit against Allen Stanford, the Bank, and other
Stanford companies on February 16, 2009. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 1. At
the SEC’s request, the district court issued a temporary restraining order. Case no.
3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 8. Among other things, this order restrained the defendants

and anyone in “active concert or participation with them” from “making any



payment or expenditure of funds belonging to or in the possession, custody, or
control of Defendants.” Id. at § 5. It also restrained all financial institutions from
disbursing any funds or securities in regard to any account “in the name, on behalf
or for the benefit of Defendants.” Id. at § 6.

The district court also signed an order appointing the Receiver, which
grants the Receiver broad powers to “[plerform all acts necessary to conserve,
hold, manage, and preserve the value of the Receivership Estate, in order to
prevent any irreparable loss, damage, and injury to the Estate.” Case no. 3:09-cv-
298-N, Doc. 10 at § 5(g). The order specifically authorizes the Receiver to take
possession of all assets “of, or in the possession or under the control of, the
Receivership Estate,” and also “all sums of money now or hereafter due or owing
to the Receivership Estate.” Id. at § 5(b). Anticipating that additional parties could
later be joined as “relief defendants,” the district court further ordered all financial
institutions to prohibit the withdrawal, transfer or other disposal of any funds “held
by or on behalf of any . . . relief defendant in any account maintained in the name
of or for the benefit of any . . . relief defendant.” Id. at § 12(a). All of these
provisions likewise appear in the Amended Receivership Order. Case no. 3:09-cv—
298-N, Doc. 157 at ] 5(b), (g), 15(a).

On March 2, 2009, the district court signed an Agreed Preliminary

Injunction against the Stanford defendants. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 80.



This order extended the TRO’s prohibition against any disbursement of funds or
securities in regard to any account “in the name, on behalf or for the benefit of the
Entity Defendants.” Id. at 4, § V. The injunction did not modify the Receiver’s
powers or other restrictions on Stanford accounts set forth in the Receivership
Order.

As a result of the Receivership Order and the Agreed Preliminary
Injunction, all Stanford investor accounts were frozen at Pershing LLC
(“Pershing”), JP Morgan Clearing Corp. (“JP Morgan”) and SEI Private Trust
Company (“SEI”), each of which contracted with one or more Stanford companies
to provide account services for Stanford customers. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc.
176-2, at 33-81; Doc. 321 at 2-3. On March 27th, the district court adopted
procedures for the Receiver’s review of the investor accounts and release of any
accounts that did not appear to include proceeds of the fraudulent CDs. Case no.
3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 239. By late June, more than 97% of investor accounts had
been released from the freeze orders. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 528, 529.

On June 29, the district court ordered the Receiver to complete the
account review process within five weeks. Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 533 at 1.
The court specified that all remaining account freezes would expire at noon on
August 3, unless the Receiver asserted claims against the account owners and

obtained injunctive relief in connection with those claims. Id. at 2.



HII. The claims at issue on appeal

Between June 22 and July 28, 2009, the Receiver filed the claims that
led to this appeal. R. 55; 69; 201. The Receiver has named as relief defendants
several hundred investors who redeemed their CDs for cash before the
Receivership. R. 55; 69; 201. It is beyond dispute that the cash used to make these
redemptions was stolen from other Stanford investors. R. 298, 303-04, 307-08,
314-15; see also App. B at 14 (describing the Bank as “a massive Ponzi scheme
whereby CD redemptions ultimately could only be accomplished with new
infusions of investor funds”). The Receiver seeks disgorgement of this cash so that
the money, along with other assets of the Receivership Estate, can be distributed
pro rata to all victims of Stanford’s fraud. To facilitate this equitable claim, the
Receiver asked the district court for a temporary injunction that would continue the
freeze on relief defendants’ accounts at Pershing, J.P. Morgan and SEI until the
claim was finally determined. R. 265.

On July 31, the district court held a hearing on the requested
injunction. The court concluded as a matter of law that the Receiver could not
prevail on any claim for “return of principal” on the redeemed CDs. R. 477-78; Tr.
47-48. Accordingly, the court froze the relief defendants’ accounts going forward
only to the extent of interest payments made to the relief defendants on top of their

invested principal. R. 477. But on August 11, this Court extended the account
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freeze on both purported principal and interest while the Court considers this
appeal.

The freeze that has been in place since the Receivership was instituted
has insured that hundreds of millions of stolen investor dollars will actually be
available for distribution to Stanford claimants upon final adjudication of the
Estate’s right to them. The continuation of this freeze is necessary for the same
reason. If these funds are released, they will be dispersed worldwide and only
recovered, if at all, at great cost — perhaps prohibitive cost — to the Estate.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The claims in this case are based in equity. But there is nothing
equitable about a rule that favors a few hundred Ponzi scheme investors who
cashed out before court intervention over 20,000 others who did not. The relief
defendants may be “innocent” because they did not realize Stanford was a sham;
but they are no more innocent than any other investor. The relief defendants may
have contractual claims against Stanford for return of the money they paid to
purchase CDs; but these claims have no justifiable priority over the identical
claims of every other investor. No one — not a relief defendant, not the SEC, and
not the Examiner — has come forward with a single case holding that compensation

to equally innocent victims with equally valid claims should be based on who was
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quick enough, or lucky enough, to receive a pay-off with stolen money before the
Ponzi scheme was revealed.

In contrast, the Receiver’s claims for disgorgement of stolen money
paid to the relief defendants are well-rooted in equitable principles and established
case law. For example, even when investor funds can be traced to a particular
investor, or were held in a segregated investor account, this Court has held that the
broad powers of a district court presiding over an equity receivership allow the
court to distribute the funds to all victims pro rata instead of returning them to their
original owner. Courts across the country have specifically recognized the district
court’s power to order relief defendants to disgorge ill-gotten proceeds of an
unlawful scheme so they can be shared equally with all victims. The district court
erred in concluding that it lacked the power to accomplish this exact same result on
the Receiver’s claims for disgorgement here.

The propriety of disgorgement flows from the undisputed fact that
Stanford was hopelessly insolvent when the relief defendants sought redemption of
their CDs. Because Stanford was a Ponzi scheme, it did not hold onto the relief
defendants’ cash and was able to “return” their CD investments only by looting the
more recent purchases of other innocent investors. Equity cannot tolerate this
result. Equity demands equal compensation for those from whom the relief

defendants’ proceeds were stolen. This Court should therefore reverse the district
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court’s order in part and maintain the existing account freeze until the Estate’s
claims for the account assets is finally determined.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The district court’s order is subject to de novo review because it is
based entirely upon a legal conclusion that the Receiver contends is mistaken.

“To obtain a preliminary injunction, a plaintiff must establish: (1) a
substantial likelihood of success on the merits; (2) a substantial threat that it will
suffer irreparable injury absent the injunction; (3) that the threatened injury
outweighs any harm the injunction might cause the defendants; and (4) that the
injunction will not impair the public interest.” Enriqgue Bernat F., S.A. v.
Guadalajara, Inc., 210 F.3d 439, 442 (5th Cir. 2000) (citing Sugar Busters L.L.C.
v. Brennan, 177 F.3d 258, 265 (5th Cir. 1999)). “Because these four elements
constitute mixed questions of fact and law, [this Court] review[s] the district
court’s factual findings for clear error, but [this Court applies] de novo review to its
legal conclusions.” Id. (citing Sunbeam Prods., Inc. v. West Bend Co., 123 F.3d
246, 250 (5th Cir. 1997)).

The district court’s order is based entirely on the first element. The
court concluded that the Receiver is unlikely to prevail on his claims solely
because the law precludes a receiver from recovering stolen investor money if,

prior to the receivership, the Ponzi scheme has already paid the stolen money to
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other investors, purportedly in return of their own invested principal. R. 477-78.
In fact, the court strongly suggested that, if the law authorizes such a recovery,
then the Receiver would be entitled to a freeze order to ensure that he could
recover all of the money to which the Estate was entitled:

I don’t think your arguments are stupid and it’s a big pot
of money and if you’re correct about the law, then Mr.
Janvey is absolutely righteous in trying to pull money
into the Receivership to be passed out. He’s doing just
exactly what he was appointed to do.

The fact that I may disagree with you about the law
doesn’t necessarily mean that I'm right. And if Mr.
Janvey and you are correct about the law, then by all
means you ought to be glomming onto these assets and
sweeping them back into the pot to be distributed to
everybody else.

Tr. at 29-30. The district court emphasized that it was not weighing equities or
exercising its discretion in any respect other than determining the law:

If I deny injunctive relief because of a mistaken view of
the law, [the Fifth Circuit] consider[s] that to be abusing
my discretion. It’s not an issue of weighing equities, do I
just weigh them differently from you. If I’'m wrong on
the law, I think they view that as sufficient basis for
reversing me.

That’s their call, of course, and I am not presuming to tell
them what to do. But here I think there is a relatively
crisp legal question that’s presented.

Tr. at 47. Finally, the district court recognized that if the account freeze is lifted,
there is great danger that the money will “wander off” where the Receiver cannot

recover it. Tr. at 30. All of these comments and paragraph 2 of the written order
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(R. 477-78) make clear that the district court denied the Receiver’s request for
injunctive relief based solely on its legal conclusion' that the Receiver cannot
recover purported return of principal as a matter of law.

As the district court suggested, “a decision based on erroneous legal
principles is subject to de novo review.” Enrique Bernat, 210 F.3d at 442; see also
Martin’s Herend Imports, Inc. v. Diamond & Gem Trading, 195 F.3d 765, 772 (5th
Cir. 1999) (“An order granting or denying a preliminary injunction will be reversed
only upon a showing that the district court abused its discretion, but legal
determinations are subject to plenary review on appeal.”) (internal quotations
omitted).

Accordingly, if this Court concludes that the Receiver’s claim for
disgorgement of purported principal is legally viable, the Court should reverse the
district court’s order in part and issue an injunction continuing the existing freeze
over the relief defendants’ accounts at Pershing, J.P. Morgan and SEI until the
claims are finally adjudicated. Alternatively, at a minimum, this Court should
reverse the order in part and remand it for the district court to reconsider the
Receiver’s motion with instructions that the Receiver has stated a legally viable
claim for disgorgement of purported principal that was “returned” only by illegally

diverting funds invested by others.

15



ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

The analysis in this case starts with two undisputed legal principles.
First, case law universally supports a pro rata distribution of Estate assets; investor
claimants must share equally in Estate assets and losses after a Ponzi scheme
collapses. See e.g., SEC v. Infinity Group Co., 226 Fed. Appx. 217, 219 (3d Cir.
2007). As the Supreme Court explained in the original Ponzi scheme case,
“equality is equity” among “equally innocent victims.” Cunningham v. Brown,
265 U.S. 1, 13 (1924).

Second, relief defendants may be joined in an equitable proceeding to
facilitate the recovery of Estate funds. See SEC v. Colello, 139 F.3d 674, 676-77
(9th Cir. 1998) (“[A]lmple authority supports the proposition that the broad
equitable powers of the federal courts can be employed to recover ill gotten gains
for the benefit of the victims of wrongdoing, whether held by the original
wrongdoer or by one who has received the proceeds after the wrong.”). No
wrongdoing by a relief defendant need be alleged. See Colello, 139 F.3d at 676;
CFTC v. Kimberlynn Creek Ranch, 276 F.3d 187, 191-92 (4th Cir. 2002); SEC v.
Elfindepan, No. 1:00-CV-00742, 2002 WL 31165146, at *4 (M.D.N.C. Aug. 30,
2002). Courts can order disgorgement or other equitable relief against a relief

defendant if “that person: (1) has received ill-gotten funds; and (2) does not have a
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legitimate claim to those funds.” SEC v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 136 (2d Cir.
1998); SEC v. Egan, 856 F. Supp. 401, 402 (N.D. Ill. 1993).

The question for this Court is how to apply these undisputed
principles to the following basic scenario. Suppose two individuals invest
$100,000 each in one-year CDs issued by a Ponzi scheme. The first makes his
investment in January 2008, the second in January 2009. When the first CD
matures in January 2009, the Ponzi scheme is insolvent. It does not have the first
investor’s funds on hand or any of its own assets to redeem the investment. The
scheme is able to redeem the first investor’s CD only by diverting the second
investor’s money to the first. The scheme collapses in February 2009, leaving
behind virtually no money to redeem the second investor’s CD.

The appellees are in the position of the first investor. They see
nothing wrong with the first investor retaining the full amount of principal that was
“returned” to him by stealing money from the second investor. They advocate a
rule of distribution by happenstance — whoever is lucky enough to cash out before
the scheme collapses gets to keep the money and whoever is not so lucky gets
nothing. The Receiver contends that the first investor has no legitimate claim to
money stolen from the second, that equity requires both investors to be treated

equally, and that happenstance is an indefensible principle of distribution.
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I. The Receiver is likely to prevail on the merits of his claims against the
relief defendants for disgorgement of Ponzi scheme proceeds.

The district court’s sole basis for finding that the Receiver is unlikely
to prevail on the merits is erroneous. The Receiver has stated a legally viable,
factually compelling claim against the relief defendants for disgorgement of money
that the Bank paid to them in furtherance of a fraudulent scheme.

A.  Fifth Circuit precedent supports the Receiver’s claims.

This Court has embraced the rule of pro rata distribution in two
closely analogous cases. See United States v. Durham, 86 F.3d 70 (5th Cir. 1996);
SEC v. Forex Asset Mgmt. LLC, 242 F.3d 325 (5th Cir. 2001). The rationale for
these decisions supports disgorgement claims against investors who cashed out of a
Ponzi scheme at the expense of other investors shortly before court intervention.

In Durham, this Court approved a pro rata distribution of funds that
could be traced to a particular investor. After the FBI seized the assets of a
fraudulent scheme, there was approximately $83,000 available for distribution to
defrauded depositors. Durham, 86 F.3d at 72. The vast majority of this money
came from one depositor, Claremont Properties. See id. at 72 n.3 (“An FBI Special
Agent traced $70,000 of Claremont’s payments that were deposited and never
withdrawn.”). The government supported Claremont’s claim for return of its own

money. /Id. at 73. But the trial court rejected Claremont’s claim to this $70,000
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and instead distributed only $16,740.83 to Claremont as its pro rata share of the
available receivership assets. Id. at 72.

This Court affirmed the pro rata distribution of Claremont’s deposit,
explaining:

The lower court in this case chose not to impose a

constructive trust in Claremont’s favor because it seemed

inequitable to allow Claremont to benefit merely because

the defendants spent the other victims’ funds first.

Claremont would obtain a preferred claim over funds if

the court were to impose the constructive trust. To the

district court, all the victims were in equal positions and
should be treated as such.

Id. at 73. Durham cannot be distinguished from this case on the mere fact that
Claremont’s deposit had not yet been returned to it, whereas the relief defendants
cashed out shortly before the scheme collapsed. A disproportionate distribution
from an insolvent Ponzi scheme is just as inequitable the day before court
intervention as the day after.

In fact, Claremont’s claim for his $70,000 was a stronger claim than
the relief defendants’ claim for CD proceeds here. At least Claremont was seeking
return of its own money. When the relief defendants’ CDs matured, the Bank no
longer held their money. The Bank redeemed the relief defendants’ CDs by
stealing money from other innocent investors. If equity required Claremont to
share its own deposit with all victims of the fraudulent scheme, then equity even

more strongly requires the relief defendants to share their purported CD
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redemptions with the very investors from whom the cash to pay those redemptions
was stolen.

In Forex, this Court approved a pro rata distribution of funds that
were segregated in a separate account consisting solely of one couple’s investment.
The receivership estate owed approximately $2.5 million to Forex investors and
lacked sufficient funds to repay them in full. Forex, 242 F.3d at 328. Under the
district court’s pro rata distribution plan, each investor would receive back
approximately 33% of his investment. /d. But one investor couple, the Whitbecks,
objected to this plan on the ground that most of their $900,000 investment sat in a
separate, segregated account that held nothing but the Whitbecks’ investment.
They argued that they were entitled to return of all money in this account because,
after all, it was their money.

But this Court rejected the Whitbecks’ arguments and affirmed the
district court’s pro rata distribution plan. This Court stated that Durham could not
be distinguished on the basis that the Whitbecks’ investment was segregated into
its own account rather than comingled with other investors’ funds. /d. at 331. The
dispositive equitable principle remained the same — “the facts did not support a
remedy that would elevate the Whitbecks’ claim above the other victims.” Id.

Forex is analytically indistinguishable from this case. The Receiver is

seeking to recover assets held in segregated accounts in the relief defendants’
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names but subject to Stanford’s control. See Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc. 321 at
2-3 (finding that “[w]ith limited exceptions, Pershing and J.P. Morgan could
execute transactions in the accounts only upon Stanford’s instructions, rather than
the [investors’] instructions”). The relief defendants are claiming rights to the
contents of these segregated accounts, just like the Whitbecks. But the mere fact
that the Bank transferred funds to Stanford accounts in the relief defendants’
names “[does] not support a remedy that would elevate the [relief defendants’]
claim above the other victims.” Forex, 242 F.3d at 331.

Even if the investment accounts at issue here were not subject to
Stanford’s exclusive control, the Forex rationale cannot tolerate a first-come, first-
served rule of distribution. If the Whitbecks were not absolutely entitled to return
of “their own money,” which sat in a segregated account and was never comingled
with other investors’ money, then the relief defendants cannot be entitled as a
matter of law to retain money that was transferred to them only because Stanford
stole it from later investors.

Based on these Circuit precedents, this Court should modify the
preliminary injunction to freeze the relief defendants’ accounts until the Receiver’s
claims are finally adjudicated. Alternatively, this Court should remand the
injunction issue to the district court to reconsider its decision with instructions that

the relief requested by the Receiver is legally viable.
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B. The Receiver’s claim for disgorgement falls well within the
district court’s discretion to administer an equity receivership.

The Receiver acknowledges that Forex and Durham were based, in
part, upon deference to the trial court’s discretion. But that does not diminish their
significance for this case. In fact, that is the very point of this appeal — the district
court erred in failing to recognize that its discretion to fashion an appropriate
equitable remedy supports the Receiver’s claim for disgorgement of stolen funds
and pro rata distribution of such funds to all Stanford victims. See, e.g., SEC v.
Great White Marine & Recreation, Inc., 428 F.3d 553, 556 (5th Cir. 2005) (“Itis a
recognized principle of law that the district court has broad powers and wide
discretion to determine the appropriate relief in an equity receivership.”) (internal
quotations omitted); SEC v. First Pac. Bancorp., 142 F.3d 1186, 1193 (9th Cir.
1998) (district court “has broad equitable powers to fashion appropriate relief for
violations of the federal securities laws”) (internal quotations omitted); SEC v. Am.
Bd. of Trade, Inc., 830 F.2d 431, 438 (2d Cir. 1987) (district court may “grant
ancillary relief . . . where necessary and proper to effectuate the purposes of” the
securities laws).

As a matter of logic and sound policy, the district court erred in
concluding that a Ponzi scheme can put stolen money beyond the reach of these
broad equitable powers merely by transferring it to a few lucky investors before the

scheme collapses. Based upon the rationale of Forex and Durham, this Court
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should hold that the Receiver’s claims for disgorgement fall within the district
court’s discretion to fashion an equitable distribution plan.

C. Cases from other Circuits support the Receiver’s claims

Courts in other circuits have recognized that investors in a Ponzi
scheme are properly named as relief defendants and are subject to disgorgement if
they received proceeds from the scheme. See, e.g., SEC v. George, 426 F.3d 786,

798-99 (6th Cir. 2005).> In George, the SEC brought an enforcement action

2 Case law amply supports the power of a receiver to seek disgorgement of tainted funds
from relief defendants who receive proceeds from a Ponzi scheme. See SEC v. JT Wallenbrock
& Assocs., 440 F.3d 1109, 1117 n.15 (9th Cir. 2006) (company that was used as an instrument of
a Ponzi scheme ordered to disgorge all proceeds of the scheme); SEC v. Cross Fin. Servs., 908 F.
Supp. 718, 730-32 (C.D. Cal. 1995) (relief defendant accused of no wrongdoing ordered to
disgorge proceeds of Ponzi scheme received in return for services to defendants); CFTC v. Bolze,
No. 3:09-CV-88, 2009 WL 1313249, at *2 (E.D. Tenn. Apr. 1, 2009) (relief defendant, a
corporation not accused of misconduct, ordered to disgorge funds received from operators of
Ponzi scheme); CFTC v. Foreign Fund, 549 F. Supp. 2d 1005, 1008 (M.D. Tenn. 2008) (relief
defendant ordered to disgorge proceeds from Ponzi scheme); CFTC v. Foreign Fund, No. 3:04-
0898, 2007 WL 1850007, at *S (M.D. Tenn. June 25, 2007) (relief defendant, a corporation not
accused of misconduct, ordered to disgorge customer funds received from operator of fraudulent
scheme; additional relief defendant not accused of misconduct, an employee of fraudulent
scheme’s operator, ordered to disgorge full amount of customer funds received); SEC v. Chem.
Trust, No. 00-8015-CIV, 2000 WL 33231600, at *11-12 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 19, 2000) (relief
defendant not accused of wrongdoing but ordered to disgorge Ponzi proceeds received from both
defendants and relief defendants controlled by defendants); SEC v. Better Life Club of Am., Inc.,
995 F. Supp. 167, 184 (D.D.C. 1998) (relief defendants not accused of wrongdoing ordered to
disgorge Ponzi proceeds received from defendant as gifts or as part of sham transactions); SEC v.
Infinity Group Co., 993 F. Supp. 324, 331-32 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (relief defendants against whom no
wrongdoing was alleged, including wife of one defendant and two trusts for which wife was
trustee, ordered to disgorge cash and assets that represented ill-gotten gains from Ponzi scheme),
aff'd, 212 F.3d 180 (3d Cir. 2000). See also, SEC v. AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., Civil Action No.
3:07-cv-1188-D, 2008 WL 1959843, at *5-6 (N.D. Tex. May 5, 2008) (relief defendant not
accused of wrongdoing but whose principal was involved in the fraud ordered to disgorge
consulting fees paid out of fraudulent proceeds); SEC v. Dowdell, No. Civ.A.3:01CV00116,
2002 WL 31357059, at *4-5 (W.D. Va. Oct. 11, 2002) (relief defendants accused of no
wrongdoing and who received residential property purchased with Ponzi proceeds enjoined from
drawing on lines of credit secured by the property).
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against the operators of a Ponzi scheme and named several investors as relief
defendants. /d. at 788. The court-appointed receiver estimated that available funds
would allow investors to recover only 42 percent of their original investments. Id.
at 791. In order “[t]o consolidate the remaining funds,” the district court granted
summary judgment to the SEC against the relief-defendant investors and ordered
them to disgorge any proceeds they had received from the scheme. Id. The court
of appeals affirmed, reasoning that because “the SEC showed that the money [the
relief defendants] received from the scheme came not from profits on their
investments but from the investments of others,” they “received ill-gotten funds
and had no legitimate claim to those funds.” Id. at 798.

The Sixth Circuit rejected the relief defendants’ argument that they
should only be required to disgorge false profits and should be permitted to keep
any amount up to the value of their original investment. Id. at 799. According to
the court, all proceeds received by the investors, including the return of their
principal investment, were subject to disgorgement:

Hundreds of other investors were victimized by this

scheme, yet they will recover only 42 percent of the

money they invested, not the 100 percent to which the

relief defendants claim to be entitled. . . . [T]he use of a

pro rata distribution has been deemed especially

appropriate for fraud victims of a “Ponzi scheme” . . . .

As the Supreme Court explained in the litigation that

gave the Ponzi scheme its name, “equality is equity” as

between “equally innocent victims.” Cunningham v.
Brown, 265 U.S. 1, 13 (1924). . . . Under these
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circumstances, [the relief defendants] may not receive a
disproportionate share of the recovered investor funds,
only the same pro rata share that other investors may
receive.

George, 426 F.3d at 799 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

Another circuit court recently employed a similar analysis in refusing
to allow an investor to receive back an investment check that had not yet cleared at
the time of the receivership. See SEC v. Infinity Group Co., 226 Fed. Appx. 217
(3d Cir. 2007). The receiver for the Ponzi scheme in Infinity recovered sufficient
assets to pay back only 55% of each investment in the scheme. 226 Fed. Appx. at
218. But Roberts claimed a right to 100% of his $30,000 investment. Roberts
made this investment just before the SEC initiated the receivership, and Roberts’s
check was still subject to a three-day bank hold when Infinity’s accounts were
frozen. Accordingly, the Ponzi scheme never gained access to Roberts’s money.

But Roberts’s arguments failed to persuade the Third Circuit. In
particular, the Third Court refused to accept a rule of distribution that was based
upon timing and chance rather than equity:

According to Roberts, the bank policy on which he relies

wound up depriving [Infinity] of access to his funds

solely by reason of the date on which [Infinity| deposited

his check. The mere fact that it did so just two days

before its account was frozen does not give Roberts

equitable priority over the thousands of other victims of

[Infinity’s] fraud.  Accordingly, the District Court

determined that there is no equitable basis to distinguish
between early investors and those, like Roberts, who
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invested shortly before [Infinity’s] account was frozen,
and that all investors should thus be treated the same.

Id. at 219. As in Infinity, the timing of the relief defendants’ CD redemptions does
not give them equitable priority over thousands of other Stanford victims. There is
no equitable basis to distinguish between early investors whose CDs matured just
before the receivership and later investments whose CDs matured after the scheme
was shut down.

As shown above, the relief defendants in this case all received
proceeds from a Ponzi scheme — money paid by other investors to purchase their
own fraudulent CDs. The relief defendants here are thus indistinguishable from
the relief defendants in George and the late investor in Infinity. In fact, the
argument for equitable relief is even stronger here, because other investors —
those not lucky enough to receive proceeds before the Stanford fraud was
discovered — will receive a muéh smaller percentage of their initial investment
than the pro rata distributions in George and Infinity. See R. 299, 303 (“At the
inception of the U.S. Receivership on February 16, 2009, the total principal
amount of outstanding SIB CDs was approximately $7.2 billion (U.S.), according
to SIB records. ...[Blased on my analysis to date, the combined assets of all
Stanford Entities (SIB included) for which we have financial records have a total
value of less than $1 billion.”). The maxim “equality is equity” applies with even

greater urgency in this case.
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D.  The relief defendants cannot establish a legitimate right to cash
that Stanford stole from other investors.

Not only were the relief defendants’ CDs redeemed with ill-gotten
cash, but the relief defendants have no “legitimate claim” to the funds in question.
In practice, once it is proven that distributions were made from Ponzi scheme
proceeds, the courts shift the burden to the relief defendant to establish a legitimate
right to retain the funds, such as a right to compensation for services that were not
in furtherance of the scheme:

Alternatively, the Relief Defendants contend that
the district court could not proceed against them as
nominal defendants because they have asserted an
ownership interest in the funds through Samuel
Kingsfield’s testimony during the preliminary injunction
hearing that the funds were received as compensation for
his services. We agree that receipt of funds as payment
for services rendered to an employer constitutes one type
of ownership interest that would preclude proceeding
against the holder of the funds as a nominal defendant.
However, a claimed ownership interest must not only be
recognized in law; it must also be valid in fact.
Otherwise, individuals and institutions holding funds on
behalf of wrongdoers would be able to avoid
disgorgement (and keep the funds for themselves) simply
by stating a claim of ownership, however specious.

Kimberlynn Creek Ranch, 276 F.3d at 192; see Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 136; SEC v.
Cherif, 933 F.2d 403, 414 n.11 (7th Cir. 1991); SEC v. Milan Capital Group, Inc.,

No. 00 CIV 108 DLC, 2000 WL 236374, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. March 1, 2000). None
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of the relief defendants rendered any services to Stanford, and none has any
legitimate right to the CD proceeds that he or she has received.

The relief defendants’ only claim to the funds is based upon their CD
contracts with the Bank, which entitle them to return of their purchases, plus
interest. But this claim actually cuts the other way because every Stanford investor
has the exact same contractual claim, including the investors whose cash was
stolen to pay the relief defendants. Because every investor has an equal claim to a
portion of the money held in the relief defendants’ accounts, this claim supports a
pro rata rule of distribution, not a rule of first-come, first-served.

In addition, the relief defendants’ contractual claims cannot support
the distinction drawn by the district court between principal and interest. If these
contractual claims were a legitimate way to distinguish between lucky investors
who redeemed their CDs before court intervention and the unfortunate masses who
did not, then the relief defendants would also be entitled to keep interest payments
that were made to them with stolen money. By maintaining the account freezes to
the extent of such interest payments, however, the district court recognized that the
Recetver is likely to prevail on his claim for disgorgement of interest payments.
Because the relief defendants’ claim for such interest payments pursuant to their

CD contracts is not “legitimate,” their claim for stolen principal is an equally
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illegitimate basis for preferring the relief defendants’ claims over those of every
other investor.

For these reasons the relief defendants are not entitled to retain money
that they received from the Stanford defendants, and which was stolen from other
investors. The Receiver is entitled to exclusive possession and control of those
funds, to be used for the benefit of all Stanford claimants. George, 426 F.3d at 798
(investors in Ponzi scheme had no legitimate claim to payments from the scheme);
Kimberlynn Creek Ranch, 276 F.3d at 190-92 (relief defendant had no legitimate
claim to gratuitously transferred proceeds of securities fraud); Cavanagh, 155 F.3d
at 137 (donee of proceeds from securities fraud had no legitimate claim to the
funds); Colello, 139 F.3d at 676 (relief defendant who received proceeds of fraud
had no legitimate claim to the funds); SEC v. China Energy Savings Tech., Inc.,
No. 06-cv-6402, 2009 WL 1940794, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. July 6, 2009) (relief
defendants had no legitimate claim to proceeds of securities fraud); SEC v. Byers,
No. 08 Civ. 7104, 2009 WL 33434, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 7, 2009) (occupants had
no legitimate claim to house whose mortgage was paid with proceeds of securities
fraud); CFTC v. Nations Invs., LLC, No. 07-61058-CIV, 2008 WL 4376887, at *6
(S.D. Fla. Aug. 25, 2008) (relief defendants had no legitimate claim to proceeds of
fraud used to pay off their home equity loans); SEC v. AmeriFirst Funding, Inc.,

Civil Action No. 3:07-cv-1188-D, 2008 WL 1959843, at *5 (N.D. Tex. May 5,
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2008) (relief defendant had no legitimate claim to proceeds of securities fraud
despite having provided consulting services to defendant); F7TC v. Holiday Enters,
Inc., Civil Action No. 1:06-cv-2939-CAP, 2008 WL 953358, at *12 (N.D. Ga. Feb.
5, 2008) (relief defendant had no legitimate claim to properties purchased with
proceeds of fraud); CFTC v. Foreign Fund, No. 3:04-0898, 2007 WL 1850007, at
*5, 7 (M.D. Tenn. June 25, 2007) (relief defendants who did not dispute receipt of
proceeds from Ponzi scheme had no legitimate claim to the funds); FTC v.
Transnet Wireless Corp., 506 F. Supp. 2d 1247, 1273 (S.D. Fla. 2007) (relief
defendant had no legitimate claim to proceeds of fraud); CFTC v. Schiera, No.
CV05-2660 CAS, 2006 WL 4586786, at *6 (S.D. Cal. Dec. 11, 2006) (same);
CFTC v. Int’l Berkshire Group Holdings, Inc., No. 05-61588, 2006 WL 3716390,
at *10 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 3, 2006) (same); CFTC v. Valko, No. 06-60001, 2006 WL
2582970, at *6 (S.D. Fla. Aug, 16, 2006) (same); SEC v. Cavanagh, No. 98-Civ-
1818-DLC, 2004 WL 1594818, at *31-32 (S.D.N.Y. July 16, 2004) (same); SEC v.
Renaissance Capital Mgmt., Inc., No. 9:00-cv-01848-TCP, 2003 WL 23353464, at
*4 (E.D.N.Y. Aug, 25, 2003) (relief defendant did not have legitimate claim to
funds obtained from investors by fraud, despite the fact that the transfer of funds
constituted repayment of a loan); Elfindepan, 2002 WL 31165146, at *6-7 (relief
defendants who obtained proceeds of fraud pursuant to a separate fraudulent

transaction had no legitimate claim to the funds); SEC v. Lybrand, 200 F. Supp. 2d
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384, 398 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (relief defendants who received proceeds of illegal
securities sales had no legitimate claim to the funds); SEC v. Chem. Trust, No. 00-
8015-CIV, 2000 WL 33231600, at *11 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 19, 2000) (relief defendant
had no legitimate claim to proceeds of Ponzi scheme); CFTC v. IBS, Inc., 113 F.
Supp. 2d 830, 855 (W.D.N.C. 2000) (relief defendants had no legitimate claim to
funds obtained from investors by fraud); Milan Capital Group, 2000 WL 236374,
at *3 (recipient of funds fraudulently obtained from investors had no legitimate
claim to the funds); SEC v. Antar, 15 F. Supp. 2d 477, 533 (D.N.J. 1998) (relief
defendants who received proceeds of fraudulent stock offering did not have
legitimate claim and “should not be permitted to retain funds derived from the
multifarious frauds” when “their enrichment came at the expense of defrauded
investors”); SEC v. Cavanagh, 1 F. Supp. 2d 337, 386 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (relief
defendants had no legitimate claim to proceeds of securities fraud); SEC v. Infinity
Group, 993 F. Supp. 324, 331 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (same); SEC v. Antar, 831 F. Supp.
380, 401-02 (D.N.J. 1993) (same).

II. The Receiver has established the other elements of his claim for a
preliminary injunction.

Although the proceedings below and the district court’s conclusions
focused on the issue of likely success on the merits, the evidence strongly supports
the other elements of the Receiver’s request for injunctive relief. In fact, the relief

defendants’ accounts have been frozen since last February precisely because there
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is a substantial threat that the Receivership Estate will suffer irreparable injury
absent the freeze, this threatened injury outweighs the harm of maintaining the
freeze, and the freeze serves the public interest.

A. There is a substantial threat of irreparable harm to the
Receivership Estate absent the account freeze.

The relief defendants’ accounts at Pershing, JP Morgan and SEI have
been frozen since February for good reason. The Receivership Estate claims
ownership of the account assets. But the Estate has precious little resources, and if
the relief defendants are permitted to transfer Estate funds out of the accounts, the
cost of retrieving them after the Receiver’s right to them is finally adjudicated
would be substantial, if not prohibitive.

The district court was sensitive to this risk even in the context of the
short amount of time it would take to perfect this appeal. See Tr. at 30 (offering to
extend the account freeze until the Receiver could request temporary relief from
this Court and stating “I don’t want it to become moot because all of the money
has wandered off where you can’t get it before you have an opportunity to present
that argument”).

Other receivership courts frequently impose account freezes in similar
circumstances to support the equitable remedy of disgorgement. See SEC v. ETS
Payphones, Inc., 408 F.3d 727, 734 (11th Cir. 2005). The purpose of an asset

freeze is to preserve the status quo by preventing dissipation and diversion of
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assets. SEC v. Infinity Group Co., 212 F.3d 180, 197 (3d Cir. 2000). In this way,
the freeze “preserve[s] funds for the equitable remedy of disgorgement.” ETS
Payphones, 408 F.3d at 734; see also SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d 1029, 1041
(2d Cir. 1990) (asset freeze designed “to facilitate enforcement of any
disgorgement remedy that might be ordered*).

This includes asset freezes against relief defendants. See Cavanagh,
155 F.3d at 136; Cherif, 933 F.2d at 414; Byers, 2009 WL 33434, at *2-3; CFTC
v. Bolze, No. 3:09-CV-88, 2009 WL 1313249, at *7 (E.D. Tenn. April 1, 2009);
Amerifirst Funding, 2008 WL 282275, at *1, vacated in part on other grounds sub
nom., Whitcraft v. Brown, 570 F.3d 268, 270 (5th Cir. 2009); Elfindepan, 2002 WL
31165146, at *4-5; Milan Capital, 2000 WL 236374, at *1, 3; IBS, 113 F. Supp.
2d at 852-53, aff’d sub nom., Kimberlynn Creek Ranch., 276 F.3d at 189; SEC v.
Heden, 51 F. Supp. 2d 296, 299 (S.D.N.Y. 1999); SEC v. Pinez, 989 F. Supp. 325,
345 (D. Mass. 1997); SEC v. Certain Unknown Purchasers, No. 81 Civ. 6553,
1983 WL 1343, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. July 25, 1983).

This long and consistent line of cases confirms that an account freeze
is warranted under the circumstances of this case. An account freeze properly
preserves proceeds of the Ponzi scheme until their ownership can be determined.
Issuing such a freeze is a routine exercise of “the court’s broad equitable powers to

afford relief to defrauded investors.” Elfindepan, 2002 WL 31165146, at *6.
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B. The threatened injury outweighs any harm to the relief
defendants that may be caused by continuing the account freeze.

By establishing the first element of his claim for an injunction —
likelihood of success on the merits — the Receiver has established that the
threatened injury to the Estate vastly outweighs any harm to the relief defendants.
The harm to the relief defendants is minimal because they have no legitimate claim
to the money in the accounts. As the Elfindepan court recognized, “[p]arties in
possession of such funds who do not have a legitimate ownership interest and who
are given notice of the freeze are not prejudiced by such a freeze as they are not
deprived of their own property.” 2002 WL 31165146, at *6 (emphasis added).

In addition, the account freeze merely preserves the status quo,
insuring that the funds will be available to whomever prevails in the competing
claims for ownership. See ETS Payphones, 408 F.3d at 734; Infinity Group, 212
F.3d at 197. But the converse is not true. If the account freeze is not extended,
then the relief defendants could ultimately retain the funds even if the Estate
prevails on its disgorgement claims, either by moving the funds beyond the
Receiver’s reach or by making recovery cost prohibitive. The balance of equities
heavily favors maintenance of the status quo.

C. The injunction will serve, not impair, the public interest.

This element is more applicable here than in most cases. The

Receiver seeks to recover the funds at issue not for himself, but for the thousands
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of Stanford investors who stand to recover but pennies on their lost investment
dollars. The public interest is served by the pro rata rule, not by a rule of
preference and chance that allows early investors to keep money stolen from later
ones.

More than 20,000 investors received little or no proceeds from the
fraud and are not named as relief defendants. See Case no. 3:09-cv-298-N, Doc.
529 at 1 (stating that 20,416 Stanford CD owners with Pershing accounts had been
released from the asset freeze as of June 25, 2009). Their only hope for
compensation is a distribution of Receivership assets. If the relief defendants are
allowed to keep proceeds from the fraud, despite having no legitimate right to
them, then the relief defendants will enjoy unfair preferential treatment at the
expense of the thousands of other investors who were not so lucky.

If, instead, the relief defendants are ordered to disgorge the proceeds,
all investors — including the relief defendants — will share equally in what
remains of the Stanford assets. Far from treating the relief defendants unfairly, the
Receiver’s plan avoids a callous disregard for tens of thousands of other investors.
Equity should not shut its eyes to the suffering of thousands in order to preserve
the preferential treatment of a few. At a bare minimum, the public interest and the
rights of Stanford’s 20,000 victims supports a temporary account freeze that will

insure meaningful relief for all if the Receiver ultimately prevails on his claims.
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CONCLUSION

For all of these reasons, the Receiver prays that this Court reverse the
district court’s order in part and issue an injunction continuing the existing freeze
over the relief defendants’ accounts at Pershing, J.P. Morgan and SEI until the
Receiver’s claims against the relief defendants are finally adjudicated.
Alternatively, at a minimum, this Court should reverse the order in part and
remand it for the district court to reconsider the Receiver’s motion with
instructions that the Receiver has stated a legally viable claim for disgorgement of
purported principal that was “returned” only by illegally diverting funds invested
by others. The Receiver further prays for such additional relief to which he may be
entitled.
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ALFREDO PARRA DAVILA

STEVEN SILVERMAN TRUST AND STEVEN SILVERMAN

BARRY L. RUPERT AND CAROL S. RUPERT

LOUISE A. HARDIN LIVING TRUST AND LOUISE A HARDIN




ANGELO A. PATERNOSTRO AND MARY ANN PATERNOSTRO

THERESA M. JAMAIL

SCOTT L. CLARK REV TRUST AND SCOTT L. CLARK

ROBERT APPELMAN

ABM REVOCABLE TRUST AND ALVARO BUENDIA

ALVARO BUENDIA

CLAUDIA GALLAGHER AND CLAUDE MAYALL AND ANNE
MAYALL

RAMON MALCA

BRUCE E. MCLEOD

AMARA TRUST

DOCTORS DIAGNOSTICS IMAGING

ERIC A. ORZECK

DEWAYNE WASHINGTON REV TRUST AND DEWAYNE
WASHINGTON

NANCIANN EAMES

RICHARD D. EAMES

RICHARD DENNIS EAMES AND NACIANN EAMES

JANE M. PRIDGEN AND ROBERT GRAY MATLOCK

JASON SCOTT GRAHAM

ROBERT E. GRAHAM

GROVEMILL HOLDINGS LIMITED

EDWARD F. BLIZZARD AND CYNTHIA H. BLIZZARD

FRANCIS NEZIANYA

WILLIAM S. FLORES JR. AND MARY G. FLORES

ELECTRI INTERNATIONAL

RICHARD AND DARLENE MCBRIDE

HMS AND B, LTD

DARIO FALLAS AND PAOLA FALLAS

HECTOR JOSE PEREZ MORA AND RAFAEL JESUS PEREZ
PERDOMO

HECTOR PEREZ MORA

RONALD B. YOKUBAITIS AND CAROLYN M. YOKUBAITIS

EMMA LEE LEFEBVRE

LARRY N. SMITH

MURPHY BUELL

STEPHEN M. BINGHAM

ROSA MARIBEL OYERVIDES

CHARLES L. WHITE

MELVIN MICHEL MARGULES BENHAMOU

MELVIN MICHEL MARGULES BENHAMOU AND ESTELLE
ESTHER BENHAMOU

EDWARD C. DWECK

ALLEN SCHWARTZ

THE ANTHONY JOSEPH ANTINORI TRUST AND ANTHONY
JOSEPH ANTINORI AND STEVEN JAMES ANTINORI

THE STEVEN JAMES ANTINORI TRUST AND STEVEN JAMES
ANTINORI

MARIA GUADALUPE MENDOZA AND GUILLERMO
HOLMQUIST




MARIA GUADALUPE MENDOZA ROMERO

MARIA SOCORRO CELIA ROMERO DE MENDOZA AND MARIA
GUADALUPE MENDOZA

ADRIANA RAMOS

EDUARDO SERRANO BERRY

HECTOR TROCATT AND ADRIANA RAMOS

JOSE ANTONIO VIGORENA

JOSE ANTONIO VIGORENA AND ADRIANA RAMOS
JAMIE COHEN BENREY AND SUSANA PEREZ DE COHEN
GENE CAUSEY

KENNETH W. DOUGHERTY

TERESA MEMUN DE ALFIE

FRANKLIN HOWARD STANSEL

VINETA P. STANSEL AND HOWARD STANSEL
WESTERN INTERNATIONAL ADVISOR CORP, LTD.
WESTERN INTERNATIONAL ADVISOR CORP, LTD. S.A.
WESTERN INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL CORP, LTD.
WESTERN INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL CORP, LTD. S.A.

ABRAHAM DIAMANT

LUIS MIGUEL HERNAIZ VIGIL

ROSA M. HERNAIZ

HERMAN A. STONE

PACESETTER ADJUSTMENT COMPANY
MARIA TERESA SAN SEBASTIAN DE VALLE AND JOSE MARIA
VALLE ESCAMEZ

DAVID A. RUBIN

DAVID A. RUBIN AND DAWN L. RUBIN

JULIO C. RUIZ AND NELLYFER FERRER
MELVIN S. TAUB AND CAROL TAUB

KEVIN A. MCKENZIE AND DENISE T. MCKENZIE
DON G. LANDERS

MALCOLM SPILLERS

CYNTHIA R. MORIARTY

MARY JANE BAXTER AND WILLIAM A. BAXTER
ANTHONY G. PARKER

RODRIGO RIVERA ALCAYAGA

TOCHAS TRUST

TOCHAS TRUST AND RODRIGO ALCAYAGA
SALT POND ASSOCIATES

SETTLER'S HILL L.P. AND MARY HOLMES

THE AMH TRUST AND MARY L. HOLMES

THE JLH TRUST

THE JLH TRUST AND THE JNH TRUST

THE JNH TRUST

THE KEH TRUST

THE MAH TRUST

THE TCH TRUST

THOMAS R. HOLMES AND MARY L. HOLMES

WATKINS FAMILY LTD. PARTNERSHIP

SINGAPORE PUNTAMITA PTE,, LTD.

JAMES E. BROWN SR.




CARLOS LANDEROS GALLEGOS AND MARIA DE JESUS
LANDEROS GALLEGOS

DENNIS CHILDRESS

THOMAS W. SLAUGHTER

CHARLES E. SMITH

BREWER & PRITCHARD, PC

THOMAS PRITCHARD

HARDEE M. BRIAN AND BETTY JO BRIAN

YOUNG FAMILY CEMETARY TRUST

ANDREW BYRON WINKLE

ANDREW BYRON WINKLE AND ROCIO DEL CARMEN
WINKLE

ALBERTO JAVIER BOTELLO REED

SILVIA GUADALUPE TAMEZ DE BOTELLO

JOSE ANTONIO MONROY CARRILLO

ADRIANA ZARAGOZA DELGADO

NICHOLAS J. LANZA JR.

NICHOLAS J. LANZA JR. AND BRENDA C. LANZA

ARCHIE SMITH

RICHARD S. FEUCHT

RICHARD S. FEUCHT AND JOAN A. FEUCHT

ELSIE M. PEREZ

ANGEL SALVADOR SCOTTI MATA AND TERESA BAVIELLO
DE SCOTTI

MARIANO JOSE SCOTTI MATA

MARIANO JOSE SCOTTI MATA AND MARIANO JOSE SCOTTI

ROBERT B. CRAWFORD JR. AND JODIE F. CRAWFORD

DONNA M. VINES

DEBRA S. GIBBS

DOROTHY M. SELIB TRUST AND DOROTHY M. SELIB

MARTHA J. CRUMPLER JOHNSON

BENTON B. JOHNSON TEST TR II AND BENTON B. JOHNSON

JOHN F. LYNCH

ANTONIO G. PENDAS

MATTHEW DELLA POLLA AND NURIA PENDAS

KENNETH G. WILKEWITZ

DANIEL JOSEPH DAIGLE AND JILDA ANN DAIGLE

JILDA A. DAIGLE

JOSEPH W. STRENGTH

PHILLIP E. LANKFORD JR.

JOHN E. WILSON

CLAUDE M. NEEDHAM

ROBERT SOULE

SANDRA F. HARRELL

JOSEPH A. CHUSTZ

LARRY W. PERKINS

LAURA JEANETTE N. LEE

JUANITA QUINEALTY

CHARLES R. SANCHEZ AND MAMIE C. SANCHEZ

CHARLES R. SANCHEZ SR.




MAMIE C. SANCHEZ

CHERYL B. WATTS

THURSTON WATTS JR.

THURSTON WATTS JR. AND CHERYL B. WATTS
TARRAL E. DAIGLE

CAMILLE C. WOOD

RICHARD A. DEVALL

RICHARD DEVALL AND SUE M. DEVALL

SUE M. DEVALL

MONTY M. PERKINS

CHARLIE L. MASSEY

WILLIAM E. ENSMINGER

ARISTIDE TRELOAR

ARTHUR J. ORDOYNE

MICHAEL J. DRAGO

JIMMY QUEBEDEAUX

JUDITH P. SIMMONS

AUDREY LETARD

JUDY A. VARNADO AND PATRICIA A. ALLISON AND AUDREY
A.LETARD

PATRICIA A. ALLISON

GWENDOLYN E. FABRE

AARON FOLSE

TERRY FOLSE

CLYDE ANDERSON

JOHN O. LETARD

HERMAN J. MILLIGAN JR.

RONALD W. VALENTINE

KERRY R. KLING

CHARLES A. JAMES

EMOLYN L. WATTS

LYNN G. GILDERSLEEVE

ROBERT GILDERSLEEVE JR. TRUST AND ROBERT
GILDERSLEEVE JR.

ROBERT V. GILDERSLEEVE JR.

WILLA MAE GILDERSLEEVE

WILLA MAE GILDERSLEEVE AND LYNN G. GILDERSLEEVE

CHRIS SWINDELL
OLIVIA S. WARNOCK
KATHLEEN F. MELILLI
JOHN E. TAYLOR
ARTHUR R. WAXLEY JR.
ROBERT YOUNG JR.
DOROTHEA M. YOUNG
GLENDA D. THOMAS
DOT G. MELDER

JACK W. MELDER

JACK W. MELDER AND DOT G. MELDER
JOHN D. COOPER

DARRELL D. COURVILLE

DENNIS LANTRIP




TROY L. LILLIE JR.

ROBERT L. BUSH

JONATHAN LARKIN STOCK TRUST AND JONATHAN LARKIN

DOROTHY T. DUNCAN

JOHN R. HOLGUIN

JOHN G. COHRON

JOHN GLEN COHRON

BARBARA ANTHONY

MICHAEL R. HOLCOMB

EDGAR THERON OVERLAND

JOHNNIE A, GRIFFITH

GARY WOOD

AZALEA REST CEMETARY INC. IRREV TRUST, AZALEA REST
CEMETARY INC., AND GEORGE B. ANNISON, IN HIS
CAPACITY AS TRUSTEE OF AZALEA REST CEMETARY INC.
IRREV TRUST

GEORGE BUR ANNISON AND DIANE B. ANNISON

REUEL L. ANDERSON

REUEL L. ANDERSON JR.

JAMIE/NICKY CARR INS. TRUST AND JAMIE CARR AND
NICKY CARR

BARBARA RATHBONE AGENCY

BARBARA V. RATHBONE

BARBARA V., RATHBONE CRT AND BARBARA V. RATHBONE

AUBREY O'NEAL CLEMENT

BLUFF CREEK REDI-MIX, INC.

FLEN ROCK COMPANY, LLC.

FLENIKEN SAND & GRAVEL, INC.

LYMAN L. FLENIKEN JR.

CALVIN DARDEN

GENESIS TODAY, INC.

MARY MENDOZA DE CAPRILES

TULIO M. CAPRILES

GATITA BLANCA

LAURA ROZANES LOMBROZO AND MOISES BOGOMOLNY
HOP

LUKAS CORP.

BELRON INVESTMENTS LIMITED

RICHARD A. ARKIN AND KAREN J. ARKIN

ROSS D. BRUCE AND MARSHA C. BRUCE

PEGGY PAYNE MORAGNE

DAVID BRUCE EZARIK

DONALD P. GRIFFITH

LITHOTRIPSY, LTD.

THE D.P. GRIFFITH FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND D.P.
GRIFFITH

THE K & K GRIFFITH, L.P.

NEN FAMILY TRUST

CORPORATE HEALTHCARE MANAGEMENT DEF BEN PL AND
CORPORATE HEALTHCARE MANAGEMENT

PINOT HOLDINGS LIMITED




JULIO SERGIO BUENO Y CADENA AND MARIA ELENA
RAMIREZ DE BUENO

MICHAEL A. SPEEG

JOHN G. DENISON AND KATHY R. DENISON

DAVID S. CARROLL JR. AND DELAINE D. CARROLL

GAIL G. MARQUETTE

NUMA L. MARQUETTE

PATRICIA W. HIRSCH

JEFFREY J. CAMPBELL

PLATEAU TELECOMMUNICATIONS

ROBERT C. WILLIAMS

JORGE SOLORZANO Y MOSQUEDA

ROBERT G. FESSLER 2001 INVESTMENTS TRUST AND
ROBERT G. FESSLER

MICHAEL J. TIMMONS

BYRON A. RATLIFF

SIDNEY HOLMES

SIDNEY HOLMES AND VICKI E. HOLMES

JEFF P. PURPERA JR.

STEVEN J. BRADING AND SHARON K. BRADING

BORDEAUX INVESTMENTSI C.V.

BORDEAUX INVESTMENTS I C.V.

BORDEAUX INVESTMENTS IX C.V.

BORDEAUX INVESTMENTS X C.V.

PROVENCE MANAGEMENT STICHTING I AND BORDEAUX
INVESTMENTS I C.V.

PROVENCE MANAGEMENT STICHTING III AND BORDEAUX
INVESTMENTS III C.V.

PROVENCE MANAGEMENT STICHTING IX AND BORDEAUX
INVESTMENTS IX C.V.

PROVENCE MANAGEMENT STICHTING X AND BORDEAUX
INVESTMENTS X C.V.

RONALD E. WELLS

RONALD E. WELLS SR. AND LUTHER D WELLS

JAMES STANLEY HARRIS

CECILIA VAISMAN VDA. DE CZUKERBERG

SANFORD STEINBERG

MICHAEL E. STAID

GERALD S. PASTERNAK

BBRATSS PRODUCTIONS, INC.

TIMOTHY RUSSELL RICKETTS AND ROSE §S. RICKETTS

GEORGANN MIRE

JAMES S. COURIER

TAHSIN YILMAZ KALKAVAN

MONROE J. RATHBONE

MONRGOE J. RATHBONE IV

GNOE C.V.

WILLIAM C. DAWSON

DANIEL CHERNITZKY LASKY AND MERY MOTOLA COHEN
DE CHERNITZKY

R AND T CHERNY SISTERS INC.




SAMUEL CHERNITZKY LIFSHITZ AND TERESA LASKY DE
CHERNITZKY AND ESTEBAN CHERNITZKY LASKY AND
DANIEL CHERNITZKY

JAMES R. LAWSON

ANTHONY J. VENTRELLA

RONALD W. PARKER

JOSEPH R. THIBODEAUX AND SUSAN E. THIBODEAUX

THOMAS DE FRANCO JR. REVOCABLE TRUST AND THOMAS
DE FRANCO JR.

RUBEN J. CRUZ

STEPHEN J. BURNHAM

JAMES D. SIMMONS

PATRICK JOSEPH BOYLE AND LAURA MARGARET BOYLE

CHERAY ZAUDERER HODGES

LUTHER HARTWELL HODGES

LUTHER HARTWELL HODGES AND CHERAY ZAUDERER
HODGES

MICHAEL A. HILLMAN AND DARLENE M. HILLMAN

DELCO FINANCE, INC.

DELCO FINANCE, INC. AND RIGOBERTO INIGUEZ

ANTONIO SANCHEZ RAMOS

GOLD WING PARTNERS

ERIC TUCKER

ERIC TUCKER AND JENNIFER TUCKER

CURTIS COLLINS

ROBERT S. GREER AND ALICE D. GREER

JEAN G. MANCUSO AND LYDIA O. LEMOINE

WILLIAM A. MANCUSO AND JEAN G. MANCUSO

DR. CAROLYN VILLARRUBIA

THE DAVIS REVOCABLE TRUST

JAMES W. BORING JR.

DAVID P. JOHNSON

ANASTACIO MOGOLLON TRUST AND ANASTACIO
MOGOLLON

YAIR SHAMIR AND ELLA SHAMIR

ROBERT JUAN DARTEZ, LLC

ROBERT L. HOLLIER

MICHAEL WHEATLEY AND BETTY WHEATLEY

LUISA DE LICHI AND JAIME LICHI COHEN AND REBECA
LICHI COHEN AND JACOBO LICHI COHEN AND SARA LICHI
COHEN

MATEO LICHI S. AND LUISA DE LICHI AND JAIME LICHI
COHEN AND REBECA LICHI COHEN AND JACOBO LICHI
COHEN AND SARA LICHI COHEN

MATEO LICHI S. AND LUISA DE LICHI AND JAIME LICHI
COHEN AND REBECA LICHI COHEN AND JACOBO LICHI
COHEN AND SARA LICHI COHEN AND EDITH BOGUSKY
BEAUJON

ARACELI DOMINGUEZ DE VALERO TRUST AND ARACELI
DOMINGUEZ DE VALERO AND RAFAEL DOMINGUEZ JR.




MARIA TERESA DOMINGUEZ TRUST AND RAFAEL
DOMINGUEZ AND MARIA T. DOMINGUEZ AND MARIA
TERESA DOMINGUEZ NICOLAS

RICARDO GONZALEZ CABRERA

RICARDO GONZALEZ CABRERA AND ALEJANDRA HILDA
GONZALEZ GARCIA

RICARDO GONZALEZ CABRERA AND ALFONSO GONZALEZ
GARCIA

RICARDO GONZALEZ CABRERA AND IGNACIO RICARDO
GONZALEZ GARCIA

RICARDO GONZALEZ CABRERA AND IGNACIO RICARDO
GONZALEZ GARCIA AND ALFONSO GONZALEZ GARCIA AND
RODOLFO GONZALEZ GARCIA

RICARDO GONZALEZ CABRERA AND RODOLFO GONZALEZ
GARCIA

MARTHA H. BAKER

RICHARD O. HUNTON

ARTHUR TORNO

MARY E. GERRY

MARTHA J. WITMER

DENNIS JAMES MIGL

MISSISSIPPI POLYMERS, INC.

FELIPE GONZALEZ

BILLIE RUTH MCMORRIS

RONALD B. MCMORRIS

RONALD MCMORRIS AND VIRGINIA MCMORRIS

VIRGINIA H. MCMORRIS

NADI HOLDINGS, LTD.

ROMANO INTERNATIONAL, LTD.

J. MICHAEL GAITHER

KATHY WEISS REVOCABLE TRUST AND KATHY WEISS

RANDALL E. YOUNGS

GENEVA SUE PALMER

ROBERT E. PALMER

J. RUSSELL MOTHERSHED

CHARLES E. BAKER

NORA E. GAY AND RICHARD E. GAY

WILLIAM C. PROVINE

ROLAND SAM TORN

MYRNA PLATKIN

THE SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED ROBERT A.
HOUSTON REVOCABLE TRUST AND ROBERT A. HOUSTON

JAIME SOLANO SOTO

ANGEL DELIO NIEUW

ANGEL DELIO NIEUW AND MARIA P. C. NIEUW-CAEL

MURFIELD INVESTMENTS INC.

YOLANDA LORIE

CHARLES L. FELNER

PHILLIP E. MARRETT

EDITH IRMA WATTS

PETER MANSUR




MARY F. MILLS

MICHAEL C. MOSLEY

MAPLE LEAF CAPITAL, LLC

GRACE PEREZ

KIRKWELL C.V.

DAVID HINOJOSA AND LAURA ANDONEGUI GONZALEZ

FETZER OVERSEAS LIMITED AND LAURA GONZALEZ DE
ANDONEGUI

INMOBILIARIA EAL

LAURA GONZALEZ DE ANDONEGUI

LAURA GONZALEZ DE ANDONEGUI AND LAURA
ANDONEGUI GONZALEZ

VERRET MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

MICHAEL S. ASMER

NANCY E. ENGLE

JODY L. BOYD AND SHELLEY J. BOYD

THOMAS E. BROWN AND BARBARA BROWN

GEORGE T. GRAVES III

ALEX FERNANDEZ

RENE FERNANDEZ

ALGAMALT.D.CA.

INVERSIONES PATRICK ROGER P AND PATRICK PETIOT

PATRICK LORIS ROGER PETIOT

JAIME SMOLENSKY

DIFFICULTY HOLDINGS LIMITED

MUDDY WATER HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANUEL LOPEZ MAZUELAS

LIGIA ESPINEL MARTINEZ

SUSAN D. SANFORD

WILLIAM BRUCE JOHNSON AND JENNIFER SAVOIC JOHNSON

JOHN S. WATTS JR

PAUL BYRD AND KYM BYRD

DIANE DUNN

JOHN M. COLGIN

JOBEL TRUST

JOSEBEL TRUST

JOTABE TRUST

CARLOS BUSTAMANTE ALVAREZ AND LUISA FERNANDA
ROMO LEROUX

JOSE LUCIANO MENDEZ ALONSO AND MARIA DEL ROCIO
CORONA ODRIOZOLA

CELIA DANTUS WEBER AND LEOPOLDO BIMSTEIN
RIZERMAN AND MIRIAM BIMSTEIN DANTUS

LABTEC INV. CORPORATION AND LEONOR RODRIGUEZ

MIRIAM BIMSTEIN DANTUS

ALISON LEFFLER
ALBERTO CARLOS CURIS GARCIA

MARIA DE LOURDES GUEVARA DE CURIS AND ALBERTO
CARLOS CURIS GARCIA




LUIS G. PEREZ

JOHN D. SANTI IRA

JAMES M. BATES

LPC INTERNATIONAL TRUST AND LPC INTERNATIONAL

DARSHAN SINGH DHALIWAL TRUST AND DARSHAN SINGH
DHALIWAL

RAUL RODRIGUEZ MENDEZ

VICTOR MANUEL ALFARO ARAUJO AND MARIA DEL
CARMEN ESCOBEDO DE ALFARO

CARL MONTE

DAVID MARK KELSO

THOMAS H. TURNER

GEORGE KENDALL FORBES

GEORGE KENDALL FORBES AND DEBORAH S. FORBES

WAYLAND B. ALEXANDER

JOHN D. NOTTINGHAM JR. AND JUDITH R. LEWIS

JOHN D. NOTTINGHAM JR. TRUST AND JOHN D.
NOTTINGHAM

THE J.D. NOTTINGHAM LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

THE J.D. NOTTINGHAM LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND J.D.
NOTTINGHAM

ROBERT H. KLUG

A.A. BUILDERS LTD.

DANECO B.V.

DVX CAPITAL

IRM INVESTMENTS, INC.

ATP TOUR, INC.

FRED R. DEMAREST

MARIO BRAUN RUSSEK

TERLINK, INC.

YENZO INVESTMENT, INC.

SLEEPING DOG HOLDINGS, LTD.

BRIARVALE HOLDINGS, LTD.

RUBE HOLDINGS, LTD.

JUDITH H. MCCUTCHEON TRUST AND JUDITH H.
MCCUTCHEON

CARROLL D. LEU

ROBERT J. BRUNO

ROBERT J. WINTERS AND DARLENE P. WINTERS

TIMOTHY A. JOHNSON

PAULA MARLIN

PHILIP M. ZIMMERMAN AND JENNIFER B. ZIMMERMAN

KATHLEEN C. DUGGAN AND GEORGE T. DUGGAN

ROGER LEE HECKMAN

ROGER LEE HECKMAN AND BRENDA G. HECKMAN

WYLLY M. GUTERMAN

JOSEPH R. BECKER AND LOLINE BECKER

JAMES R. CALVIN

GAINES D. ADAMS

DONNA W.ALLBRITTON

JOHN F. THOMPSON




PETER A. THEVENOT

DON PARKINSON AND MARILYN PARKINSON

MARILYN PARKINSON

CAROLYN CRANSTON

ANNA SANDRA SANTORO TEPEDINO AND VALENTINA
MASTROPASQUAS AND ROSA TEPEDINO DE SANTORO

MAURICIO ZEPEDA CARRANZA

BONNER HOLDINGS, LTD.

ROBERT GILLIKIN AND MARTHA GILLIKIN

THOMAS J. MORAN

JOHN R. PAINTER

DENNIS J. FERRA AND KAREN S. FERRA

DANIEL PAUL LANDRY AND DIANNA LYNN LANDRY

HENRY A. KLEIN

CARLOS FELIPE PENA

DAVID JONATHAN DREW

JAY STUART BELL

JOHNNY DAVID DAMON

GREGORY ALAN MADDUX

BERNABE WILLIAMS

ANDRUW RUDOLF BERNARDO JONES

SUSAN EPSTEIN

MARVIN WENITSKY

VALERIE J. KALTMAN

ROSINE CHAPPELL

VALERIE DALY HAUSLADEN

GUIFENA CORP.

EDWARD L. VAUGHN AND KAREN E. VAUGHN

WILLIAM A. WELBORN

JON KARL GOECKEL AND LORETTA B. GOECKEL

LUSKY INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIP, LP

MORTIMER F. CURRIER AND KATHERINE F. CURRIER

LEJEUNE T. MILLS AND GILBERT C. MILLS1

JAMES F. HAUN AND KALEN K. HAUN

KENNETH MEACHAM

MARTHA AGUADO DE DONNADIEU AND EMILIO
DONNADIEU AGUADO

VERONA BELLE SPATZ

ESTATE OF JUSTINE H. SMITH

SUSAN CREEKMORE HEIM

RALPH MACDONALD

WILLIAM K. GREINER

LINDA MCSPADDEN MCNEIL

EDUARDO IGARTUA RUILOBA AND LA ESTANCIA C.C.

BOBBY G. WILKERSON

GEORGE B. LORMAND, JR.

ERIC R. GEORGE

CHRISTOPHER ALLRED

TERENCE BEVEN AND ELIZABETH BEVEN

GARY D. MAGNESS IRREVOCABLE TRUST

GARY MAGNESS

GMAGLLC




MAGNESS SECURITIES LLC

LIBYAN FOREIGN INVESTMENT CO.

REGIONS BANK AS TRUSTEE FOR LPFA IT CITY PLAZA
PROJECT SERIES 2008 AND II CITY PLAZA LLC

JUERGEN KURT WAGENTROTZ

JURGEN KURT WAGENTROTZ ERNST

MICHEL MORENO

ANGLO-ATLANTIC STEAMSHIP CO. LTD.

CATALYST PRIVATE EQUITY PARTNERS (ISREAL) II L.P.

BRUCE THOMPSON AND MICHELLE THOMPSON

BRUCE THOMPSON

COMPANIA MEXICANA DE AVIACION S A.DE C.V.

ANTONY MANSOUR AND REHAN MANSOUR

ANTONY MANSOUR

JOSEPHINE MERY AND FRANCOISE SOLANGE MERY

JOSEPHINE MERY

BRETT LANDES

MANSURA ENTERPRISES CV

EDWARD HYLTON JONES

EDWARD HYLTON JONES AND SHIRLEY GLORIA JONES

GEORGE JOSEPH ROLLAR

GEORGE JOSEPH ROLLAR AND DOLORES MAY PAYER
ROLLAR

WEST MEADOWS LTD.

AMERICAN FAMILY ASSOCIATION INC.

VALNAMEX S .A.

JAMES E. RICHARDSON FAMILY TRUST

GALO ENRIQUE VILLAMAR VILLAFUERTE

PERFORMANCE CONTRACTORS INC.

AGNETA LAURIN

HANS LAURIN AND AGNETA LAURIN

HANS LAURIN

CLAUDIO ENRIQUE HERNANDEZ VILLALOBOS

CORPORACION NACIONAL DE INVERSIONES SA DE CV

INVERSIONES VARMOL TRUST

INVERSIONES VARMOL TRUST CARE OF DR. JORGE MARIO
VARGAS P.

MR INTERNATIONAL GROUP LTD.

EDUARDO A. NAJERA AND EDUARDO A. NAJERA AND
JENNIFER M. NAJERA

RITA MEIER KNUDSON REVOCABLE TRUST

INTERNATIONAL PETROCHEMICAL SALES LIMITED

TRIMECA

TRIMECA TRUST

TRIMECA (TRABAJOS INDUSTRIALES Y MECANICOS)

ELEVEN TWENTY-TWO LLC

ALGICA S.A.

AIRSLTD.

NAIRCB.V.

NAIRC-NETHERLANDS ANTILLEAN INSURANCE AND
REINSURANCE COMPANY

NAIRC-NETHERLANDS ANTILLEAN INSURANCE




INMOFYBE S A.

AYALA TRUST
KRIMICH LTD.

CELINA TRUST

WALDMAN, LTD.

ELENA TRON DE ZEPEDA CARRANZA
ARCHIE TRUST

RADOK INVESTMENTS LIMITED
FLEX, LTD.

MALTON OVERSEAS LTD.
COUNTRY HILL INVESTMENT, N.A.

BRILMAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED

VICSAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED

COFFEY OVERSEAS LIMITED

NETFIELDIC TRUST

CURRICHI FOUNDATION
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PLEA AGREEMENT

The United States of America, by and through its United States Attorney for
the Southern District of Texas and the Fraud Section of the Criminal Division of the
Department of Justice, the defendant, James M. Davis, and the defendant’s counsel,
David Finn, have entered into the following plea agreement (the “Agreement”)
pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(B) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure:

The Defendant’s Agreement

1. (a) The defendant agrees to plead guilty to Counts One, Two and
Three of the Information. Count One charges the defendant with conspiracy to
commit wire, mail and securities fraud, in violation of 18 United States Code, Section
371. Count Two charges the defendant with mail fraud, in violation of 18 United
States Code, Section 1341. Count Three charges the defendant with conspiracy to

obstruct an SEC proceeding, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. By entering this




Agreement, the defendant waives any right to have the facts that the law makes
essential to the punishment of Counts One, Two or Three either charged in the

Information, proved to a jury or proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

(b) The defendant agrees that the facts of this case support the

following Sentencing Guidelines calculation:

Section 2B1.1(a) — Base offense level for wire fraud: 7
Section 2B1.1(b)(1)(K) — Loss of more than $400 million 30
Section 2B1.1(b(2)(B)~ More than 250 victims 6

Section 2B1.1(b)(9)(C, D) — Substantial part of scheme
committed outside United States and otherwise used
sophisticated means 2
Section 2B1.1(b)(14)(B) — Affecting safety and soundness

of financial institution and endangering solvency or

financial security of 100 or more victims 4
Section 3B1.3 — Abuse of position of trust 2
Section 2B1.1(b)(14)(C) — Combination of enhancement

for more than 250 victims and enhancement for safety and
soundness of financial institution and endangering the

solvency or security of 100 or more victims, equals 10,

therefore reduced to 8 -2
Section 3E1.1(a, b) — Acceptance of responsibility -3
Total Offense Level — Adjusted 46

(¢) The defendant further agrees to recommend at the time of
sentencing that the Sentencing Guidelines provide a fair and just resolution based on
the facts of this case, and that no downward departure or variances are appropriate

other than the reduction for acceptance of responsibility discussed in Paragraph



Thirteen and the potential for a downward departure based on substantial assistance
pursuant to U.S.8.G. § 5K1.1 as discussed in Paragraph Seven.
Punishment Range

2. The statutory penalty for the violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 371, in Counts One and Three, is not more than five years imprisonment
and/or a fine of up to $250,000.00. The statutory penalty for the violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1341, in Count Two, is not more than twenty years
imprisonment and/or a fine of up to $250,000.00. Additionally, on all three counts,
the defendant may receive a term of supervised release after imprisonment of up to
three (3) years. Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 3559(a)(4) and 3583(b)2). Defendant
acknowledges and understands that if he should violate the conditions of any period
of supervised release which may be imposed as part of his sentences, then defendant
may be imprisoned for the entire term of supervised release, not to exceed two years,
without credit for time already served on the term of supervised release prior to such
violation. Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 3559(a)(4) and 3583(e)(3). Defendant understands that
he cannot have the imposition or execution of the sentence suspended, nor is he

eligible for parole.



Mandatdry Special Assessment

3. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(2)(A), immediately after sentencing the
defendant will pay to the Clerk of the United Stater District Court a special
assessment in the amount of $l_00.00 per count of conviction. The payment will be
by éashier’s check or money order payable to the Clerk of the United States District
Court, c/o District Clerk’s Office, P.O. Box 61010, Houston, Texas 77208, Attention:
Finance.

Fine and Reimbursement

4.  The defendant understands that under the United States Sentencing
Commission Guidelines Manual (hereafter referred to as “Sentencing Guidelines” or
“U.8.8.G.”), the Court is permitted to order the defendant to pay a fine that is
sufficient to reimburse the United States for the costs of any imprisonment or term
of supervised release, if any is ordered.

5. The defendant agrees that becaue the offenses of conviction occurred
after April 24, 1996, restitution is mandatory without regard to Davis’s ability to pay
and that tﬁe Court must order Davis to pay restitution for the full loss caused by his
criminal conduct pursuant to Title 18, United States Cdde, Section 3663 A, provided,
however, that the United States agrees that the value of any property returned to

victims through the forfeiture and remission process shall be credited against any



order of restitution,

6.  Thedefendant agreesto make complete financial disclosure by truthfully
executing a sworn financial statement (Form OBD-500) prior to sentencing if he is
requested to do so. In the event that the Court imposes a fine or orders the payment
of restitution as part of the defendant’s sentence, the defendant shall make complete
financial disclosure by truthfully executing a sworn financial statement immediately
following his sentencing.

Cooperation

7. The parties understand that the Agreement carries the potential for a
motion for departure pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5K1.1. The defendant understands and
agrees that whether such a motion is filed will be determined solely by the United
States. Should the defendant’s cooperation, in the sole judgment and discretion of the
United States, amount to “substantial assistance,” the United States reserves the sole
right to file a motion for departure pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5K1.1. The defendant
agrees to persist in his guilty plea throﬁgh sentencing énd to cooperate fully with the
United States. The defendant understands and agrees that the United States will
request that sentencing be deferred until his cooperation is complete.

8. The defendant understands and agrees that the term “fully cooperate” as
used in this Agreement includes providing all information relating to any criminal

activity known to the defendant. The defendant understands that such information
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includes both state and federal offenses arising therefrom. In that regard:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

6]

9.

The defendant agrees that this Agreement binds only the United States
Attorney for the Southern District of Texas, the Fraud Section of the
Criminal Division of the Department of Justice and the defendant; it
does not bind any other United States Attorney or any other component
of the Department of Justice.

The defendant agrees to testify truthfully as a witness before a grand
jury or in any other judicial or administrative proceeding when called
upon to do so by the United States.

The defendant agrees to voluntarily attend any interviews and
conferences as the United States may request.

The defendant agrees to provide truthful, complete, and accurate
information and testimony; and he understands that any false statements
he makes to the Grand Jury, at any court proceeding (criminal or civil),
or to a government agent or attorney, can and will be prosecuted under
the appropriate perjury, false statement, or obstruction statutes.

The defendant agrees to provide to the United States all documents in
his possession or under his control relating to all areas of inquiry and
investigation.

Should the recommended departure, if any, not meet the defendant’s
expectations, the defendant understands that he remains bound by the
terms of this Agreement and cannot, for that reason alone, withdraw his
plea.

Waiver of Appellate Rights

The defendant is aware that 18 U.S.C. § 3742 affords a defendant the

right to appeal the sentence imposed. The defendant agrees to waive the right to

appeal the sentence imposed or the manner in which it was determined on all other



grounds set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3742 except he reserves theright to appeal a sentence
above the statutory maximum. Additionally, the defendant is aware that 28 U.S.C.
§ 2255 affords the right to contest or “collaterally attack” a conviction or sentence
after the conviction or sentence has become final. The defendant waives the right to
contest his conviction or sentence by means of any post-conviction proceeding,
including but not limited to proceedings authorized by 28 U.S.C. § 2255. If at any
time the defendant instructs his attorney to file a notice of appeal on grounds other
than those specified above, the United States will seek specific performance of this
provision.

10. In exchange for this Agreement with the United States, the defendant
waives all defenses based on venue, speedy trial under the Constitution and Speedy
Trial Act, and the statute of limitations with respect to any prosecution that is not
time-barred on the date that this Agreement is signed, in the event that (a) the
defendant’s conviction is later vacated for any reason, (b) the defendant violates any
provision of this Agreement, or (c) the defendant’s plea is later withdrawn.

11. Inagreeing to these waivers, the defendant is aware that a sentence has
not yet been determined by the Court. The defendant is also aware that any estimate
of the possible sentencing range under the Sentencing Guidelines that he may have

received from his counsel, the United States, or the Probation Office is a prediction,



not a promise, did not induce his guilty plea, and is not binding on the United States,
the Probation Office, or the Court. The United States does not make any promise or
representation concerning what sentence the defendant will receive. The defendant
further understands and agrees that the Sentencing Guidelines are “effectively
advisory” to the Court. United States v. Booker, 125 8.Ct. 738 (2005). Accordingly,
the defendant understands that, although the Court must consult the Sentencing
Guidelines and must take them into account when sentencing him, the Court is bound
neither to follow the Sentencing Guidelines nor to sentence the defendant within the
guideline range calculated by use of the Sentencing Guidelines.

12. The defendant understands and agrees that each and all of his waivers
contained in this Agreement are made in exchange for the corresponding concessions
and undertakings to which this Agreement binds the United States.

The United States’ Agreements

13.  The United States agrees to each of the following;:

(a) At the time of sentencing, the United States agrees not to oppose the
defendant’s anticipated request to the Court and the United States
Probation Office that he receive a two level downward adjustment
pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3El.l(a) should the defendant accept
responsibility as contemplated by the Sentencing Guidelines. The
United States is not required to make this recommendation if Davis (1)
fails or refuses to timely entire his plea and make a full, accurate and
complete disclosure to the United States and the Probation Department

of the circumstances surrounding the relevant offense conduct and his
present financial condition; (2) is found to have misrepresented facts to
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(b)

(©)

14,

the United States prior to entering this Agreement; or (3) commits any
misconduct after entering into this Agreement, including but not limited
to committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, or
making false statements or misrepresentations to any governmental
entity or official.

If the defendant qualifies for an adjustment under U.S.S.G. Section
3E1.1(a), the United States agrees to file a motion for an additional one
level departure based on the timeliness of the plea or the expeditious
manner in which the defendant provided complete information regarding
his/her role in the offense if the defendant’s offense level is 16 or
greater.

The United States agrees that the appropriate Guidelines calculation in
this case is the calculation described in Paragraph 1(b) above.

United States’ Non-Waiver of Appeal

The United States reserves the right to catry out its responsibilities under

the Sentencing Guidelines. Specifically, the United States reserves the ri ght:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

()

to bring its version of the facts of this case, including its evidence file
and any investigative files, to the attention of the Probation Office in
connection with that office’s preparation of a presentence report;

to set forth or dispute sentencing factors or facts material to sentencing;

to seek resolution of such factors or facts in conference with the
defendant’s counsel and the Probation Office;

to file a pleading relating to these issues, in accordance with U.S.8.G.
§ 6A1.2 and 18 U.S.C.§ 3553(a); and

to appeal the sentence imposed or the manner in which it was
determined. If the United States appeals Davis’s sentence, then Davis
shall be released from his waiver of appellate rights.



Sentence Determination

15. The defendant is aware that the sentence will be imposed by the Court
after consideration of the Sentencing Guidelines, which are only advisory, as well as
the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). The defendant nonetheless acknowledges and
agrees that the Court has authority to impose any sentence up to and including the
statutory maximum set for the offense(s) to which the defendant pleads guilty, and
_ that the sentence to be imposed is within the sole discretion of the sentencing judge
after the Court has consulted the applicable Sentencing Guidelines. The defendant
understands and agrees that the parties’ positions regarding the application of the
Sentencing Guidelines do not bind the Court aﬁd that the sentence imposed is within
the discretion of the sentencing judge. If the Court should impose any sentence up
to the maximum established by statute, the defendant cannot, for that reason alone,
withdraw a guilty plea, and he will remain bound to fulfill all of his obligations under
this Agreement.

Rights at Trial

16. The defendantrepresentsto the Court that he is satisfied that his attorney
has rendered effective assistance. The defendant understands that by entering into this
Agreement, he surrenders certain rights as provided herein. The defendant

understands that the rights of a defendant include the following;:
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(@) If the defendant persisted in a plea of not guilty to the charges, the
defendant would have the right to a speedy jury trial with the assistance
of counsel. The trial may be conducted by a judge sitting without a jury
if the defendant, the United States, and the Court all agree.

(b) At a trial, the United States would be required to present witnesses and
other evidence against the defendant. The defendant would have the
opportunity to confront those witnesses and his attorney would be
allowed to cross-examine them. In turn, the defendant could, but would
not be required to, present witnesses and other evidence on his own
behalf, If the witnesses for the defendant would not appear voluntarily,
he could require their attendance through the subpoena power of the
Court.

(c) At a trial, the defendant could rely on a privilege against self-
incrimination and decline to testify, and no inference of guilt could be
drawn from such refusal to testify. However, if the defendant desired to
do so, he could testify on his own behalf.

Factual Basis for Guilty Plea
17.  Ifthis case were to proceed to trial, the United States could prove each
element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The following facts, among others,
would be offered to establish the defendant’s guilt:

(a) Beginninginatleast 1988, JAMES M. DAVIS (DAVIS) began serving
as Controller of Guardian International Bank, Ltd (Guardian), a bank chartered in
Montserrat and owned by Robert Allen Stanford (Stanford). Soon after DAVIS
became Controller, Stanford requested that, in order to show fictitious quarterly and
annual profits, DAVIS make false entries into the general ledger for the purpose of
reporting false revenues and false investment portfolio balances to the banking
regulators. In late 1989, Stanford closed Guardian in Montserrat due, in part, because
of his concern with the heightened scrutiny being imposed upon Guardian by bank
regulators in Montserrat.

11



(b) Inearly 1990, Stanford moved Guardian’s banking operations to Antigua
under the name Stanford International Bank, Ltd. (SIBL), of which he was the sole
shareholder and for which DAVIS continued to serve as Controller through
approximately 1992, when DAVIS became Chief Financial Officer of Stanford
Financial Group (SFG). SFG was the parent company of SIBL and a web of other
affiliated financial services entities, including Stanford Group Company (SGC) and
Stanford Capital Management (SCM).

() SIBL’s primary investment product was referred to as a Certificate of
Deposit (CD) which SIBL would solicit to potential investors in the United States and
elsewhere through SFG broker-dealers, sometimes referred to as “Financial Advisors”
(FAs). By 2008, SIBL had sold CDs resulting in liabilities totaling over $7 billion
to investors in the United States and elsewhere. Stanford, DAVIS, and their
conspirators promoted SIBL’s investments as being well-managed, safe and secure,
claimed that SIBL’s investment strategy was to minimize risk and achieve liquidity,
and falsely touted in SIBL’s Annual Reports beginning in at least 1999 an almost
year-by-year percentage and dollar increase in the purported value of SIBL’s
earnings, revenue and assets.

(d) Prior to purchasing SIBL CDs, potential investors were required to
provide “their basic biographical and financial information in the form of a
Subscription Agreement. Subscription Agreements regarding the investors were
routinely sent from Stanford Group Company in Houston, Texas to SIBL in Antigua.
CDs and account statements regarding the CDs were also routinely sent by mail to
investors, including an account statement driven by the false investment and revenue
values for an investor (identified as “Investor TA” in Count 2 of the Information)
which on November 30, 2008 was sent and delivered via United States Postal Service
to Investor TA’s address in Spring, Texas.

(¢) Stanford, DAVIS and their conspirators further promoted the sale of
SIBL’s CDs by representing to investors that SIBL’s operations and financial
condition were being scrutinized by Antigua’s bank regulator, the Financial Services
Regulatory Commission (FSRC), and that SIBL’s financial statements were subject
to annual examination and inspections by the FSRC and audits by an independent
outside auditor.
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(f)  Stanford, DAVIS, Chief Investment Officer Laura Pendergest-Holt
(Holt) and other conspirators created and perpetuated the false impression to
investors, potential investors, and the majority of SFG employees that Holt was
responsible for overseeing and monitoring SIBL’s entire portfolio of non-cash assets
and that she managed all of those assets through a global network of money
managers. In order to continue to effectuate the scheme, on December 7, 2008,
Stanford and others, appointed Holt to the SIBL “Investment Committee.” The
purpose of this appointment was to continue to dupe the CD investors into falsely
believing that Holt understood and “managed” SIBL’s entire investment portfolio.

(g) Unknown to investors, Stanford, DAVIS, Holt and other conspirators
internally segregated SIBL's investment portfolio into three investment tiers: (a) cash
and cash equivalents (“Tier I”); (b) investments with “outside money managers,”
sometimes also referred to as “outside portfolio managers” (“Tier II”); and (c) other
assets (“Tier III”). In actuality, Holt’s management of SIBL’s assets was confined to
those assets contained in Tier II which, by 2008 made up only 10% of SIBL’s entire
portfolio. In fact, by 2008, approximately 80% of SIBL’s investment portfolio was
made up of illiquid investments, including grossly overvalued real and personal
property that SIBL had acquired from Stanford-controlled entities at falsely inflated
prices. At least $2 billion dollars of undisclosed, unsecured personal loans from
SIBL to Stanford were concealed and disguised in SIBL’s financial statements as
“investments.”

(h)  AtStanford’s direction and assisted by SFG’s Chief Accounting Officer,
Gilberto Lopez (Lopez), and the Global Controller for an affiliate of SFG, Mark
Kuhrt (Kuhrt), DAVIS regularly created false books and records in which the value
of the investment portfolio was further fraudulently adjusted by percentage increases
to produce false investment and revenue values. As a result, SIBL’s values for
revenue and investments were falsified on a routine basis.

(i)  From at least 2002, DAVIS, at the request of Stanford, would prepare
with the assistance of Lopez and Kuhrt, fictitious SIBL investment reports, which
were provided to the Antiguan FSRC on a quarterly basis, again falsely inflating the
value of SIBL’s investments. These false forms continued to be provided to the
FSRC on a quarterly basis until at least September 2008, Kuhrt would send the false
documents to SIBL in Antigua. SIBL Executive A would then execute the documents
and provide them to the FSRC.
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(j)  Stanford was insistent that SIBL appear to show a profit each year.
Stanford and DAVIS would collaborate to select a false revenue number. DAVIS
would then send the collaborative false revenue numbers to Lopez and Kuhrt,

(k) To create the falsely inflated values for SIBL’s assets, DAVIS would
extrapolate from the values attributed to a portion of SIBL’s investment portfolio
which was monitored by Holt and managed by money managers. DAVIS, at
Stanford’s urging, would multiply those actual values by artificial percentage factors
necessary to equal the value for depositor liabilities. By email or personal delivery,
DAVIS would send the false investment valuation report to Kuhrt, who then sent it
to SIBL.

(1) Initially, DAVIS did the calculations manually, but later a computer
spreadsheet was created which was useful in generating the bogus revenue numbers.
Every year, SIBL would prepare a budget projecting growth. Stanford, DAVIS,
Lopez, Kuhrt and other conspirators would then use the “budgeted” numbers to
develop falsely inflated revenue numbers which would be claimed as the “actual”
revenue numbers to generate the desired Return on Investment (ROI). At Kuhrt’s
direction, subordinate employees in SFG’s accounting group would be given a secret
instruction sheet informing them as to how to make the changes to generate the false
adjusted revenue figures, including the steps necessary to obtain approval by Lopez
and DAVIS. After “backing into” or “reverse engineering” the numbers to match the
“budgeted” numbers, Kuhrt would then transmit the inflated revenue numbers from
Houston initially, and later from St. Croix when Kuhrt’s accounting group moved to
St. Croix, to Lopez in Houston, Texas and to DAVIS in Mississippi for DAVIS’
approval. DAVIS often would further adjust the already bogus numbers to reach a
desired ROI and would transmit to Kuhrt and Lopez the changes to be made.

(m) Kuhrtand Kuhrt’s employees in the accounting group would prepare the
false financial statements published in SIBL’s annual reports, which Stanford, Lopez
and DAVIS would review prior to publishing and sending out to investors.

(n) This continued routine false reporting by Stanford, DAVIS, Lopez,
Kuhrt and their conspirators, upon which CD investors routinely relied in making
their investment decisions, in effect, created an ever-widening hole between reported
assets and actual liabilities, causing the creation of a massive Ponzi scheme whereby
CD redemptions ultimately could only be accomplished with new infusions of
investor funds. Stanford, DAVIS, Lopez, Kuhrt and their conspirators fraudulently
claimed in SIBL’s Annual Reports an increase in assets from approximately $1.2
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billion in 2001 to approximately $8.5 billion reported in SIBL’s Monthly Report for
December 2008. By the end of 2008, Stanford, DAVIS and their conspirators falsely
represented in SIBL’s December monthly report that itheld over $7 billion in assets,
when in truth and in fact, SIBL actually held less than $2 billion in assets.

(0) By atleast 2002, Stanford had introduced DAVIS to Leroy King, a bank
auditor for the FSRC, a former Ambassador to the United States from Antigua and
a former executive at Bank of America in New York. King became Administrator
and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the FSRC in approximately 2003.

(p) Sometime in 2003, Stanford performed a “blood oath” brotherhood
ceremony with King and another employee of the FSRC, each of whom participated
in the FSRC’s regulatory oversight of SIBL. This brotherhood oath was undertaken
in order to extract an agreement from both King and the other FSRC employee that
they, in exchange for regular cash bribe payments by Stanford to King and the other
FSRC employee, would ensure that the Antiguan bank regulators would not “kill the
business” of SIBL. During the course of the fraud scheme King routinely referred to
Stanford as “Brother” or “Big Brother.” In the regular preparation of the false SIBL
investment reports for submission to the FSRC, Stanford, DAVIS, and other
conspirators relied upon the assurances that King and the other FSRC employee,
because of the bribes, would ensure that the FSRC would not actually examine the
validity of the investments of SIBL as set forth in those investment reports.

(99 When Stanford needed cash to make these bribe payments, he generally
would instruct DAVIS to debit funds from a secret numbered Swiss bank account at
Society General Bank (SocGen account #108731) and to wire those funds to an SFG
account at Bank of Antigua, from which the cash in United States dollars would be
withdrawn. This secret SocGen account #108731was funded by CD investor funds
and was also used to make regular bribe payments, via wire transfer, to SIBL’s outside
auditor in Antigua, C.A.S. Hewlett & Co. Ltd. The cash bribe payments by Stanford
to King ultimately exceeded $200,000.

(r) Sometime in approximately 2003, Stanford and SIBL Executive A
complained to King that two FSRC examiners were becoming aggressive and
suspicious in their examination of SIBL'’s financial statements. Stanford reassured
DAVIS and SIBL Executive A that, because of their brotherhood oath and the bribe
payments, King would assist in removing the two FSRC employees from the
regulatory oversight function of SIBL. Both FSRC employees soon thereafter were
reassigned or replaced.
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(s) InJanuary 2004, Stanford also continued his bribery scheme with Leroy
King by paying $8000 for tickets to the Super Bowl game in Houston and by corruptly
giving those tickets to King and his girlfriend to attend the game.

(t)  InJune of2005, King provided to Stanford a confidential letter that King
had received from the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in
his capacity as Administrator and CEO of the FSRC wherein the SEC sought
information and records regarding SIBL’s CD investment portfolio. In the
confidential letter, the SEC maintained that it was investigating SIBL’s sales practices
with respect to its CD program and sought from the FSRC details and records of
SIBL’s investments because the SEC stated that it had evidence to suggest that SIBL
was engaged in a “possible Ponzi scheme.” Stanford and SIBL Executive A then
assisted King in drafting a false and misleading response by the FSRC to this
confidential SEC letter.

(u) By August of 2005, Stanford had retained an outside counsel to represent
the interests of SIBL in the SEC inquiry of SIBL’s sales practices (hereafter Outside
Attorney A), During that month, Outside Attorney A traveled to the SIBL facility in
Antigua where he met with Stanford, DAVIS, SIBL Executive A, Leroy King and
others to familiarize himself with the operations and finances of SIBL. Outside
Attorney A further reviewed SIBL’s disclosures to investors in its CD program.

(v)  OnlJuly30,2006, Leroy King transmitted to SFG Attorney A inHouston,
Texas, a letter dated.July 11, 2006 from the Director of the Bank Supervision
Department at the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (“ECCB”) to the FSRC in Antigua
concerning, inter alia, the affiliate relationship of SIBL to the Bank of Antigua.
Similarly, on August 1, 2006, King again faxed to SFG Attorney A in Houston, Texas,
a proposed response to the ECCB letter which sought the input of SFG Attorney A in
crafting a response by the FSRC calculated to mislead the ECCB as to the financial
bona fides of SIBL to prevent legitimate scrutiny of SIBL by the Eastern Carribean
bank regulator. Recognizing that he had already been paid through cash bribe
payments from Stanford, King concluded the August 1, 2006 facsimile transmission
with the following handwritten words: “Please do not bill me (laugh), Thanks a
million, Lee.”

(w) On September 25,2006, King provided to Stanford, SFG Attorney A, and
SIBL Executive A another confidential letter he had received from the SEC wherein
the SEC again sought records and information regarding SIBL’s CD investment
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portfolio. Stanford, DAVIS, SIBL Executive A, and SFG Attorney A would then
propose various responses designed to mislead the SEC that King would be requested
to insert into the FSRC’s response to the SEC’s confidential letter.

(x) In late September of 2006, Outside Attorney A contacted the SEC and
represented that he had “heard through the grapevine” that the FSRC had not been
provided with an appropriate request from the SEC for documents; that the SEC
should “go to Antigua” to review the SIBL examination reports; that the SEC had “no
basis” to request documents regarding SIBL’s investment portfolio from SIBL; that
he (Outside Attorney A) had spent 15 years investigating fraud for the SEC and was
“well-equipped” to recognize the “hallmarks of fraud”; that he (Outside Attorney A)
found SIBL to be credible in all their business dealings; and that, based upon his
review of the situation and personal visit to SIBL, Outside Attorney A found SIBL to
be an “incredible institution.”

(y) In late 2008, Outside Attorney A was informed that SIBL’s CD
investment portfolio included a previously undisclosed third tier of investments (Tier
11I) that was not “managed” by Holt. Subsequently, in early January 2009, Outside
Attorney A was informed that this third tier included real estate investments and
private equity. Outside Attorney A, through his prior review of SIBL’s disclosures
knew and understood that this third tier of investments, including the real estate
investments, had not been disclosed to investors. In early January of 2009 Outside
Attorney A further learned that this undisclosed third tier of investments constituted
approximately 80% of SIBL’s investment portfolio or approximately $6 billion.

(z) During the course of the fraud conspiracy, Holt supervised a group of
research analysts at SFG’s offices in Memphis, Tennessee, who were primarily
responsible for researching and trading investments in the Tier II segment of SIBL’s
portfolio. These research analysts were aware that Tier Il represented a small segment
of SIBL’s entire portfolio and that the vast majority of SIBL’s purported assets were
in Tier Il of SIBL’s portfolio. Occasionally, Holt’s research analysts would question
her regarding Holt’s knowledge of SIBL’s Tier III assets. Holt would often dismiss
such inquiries and would explain that she knew the details of the assets in Tier Il and
the research analysts “did not need to concern themselves” with Tier 111

(aa) From 2005 through at least February of 2009, Stanford, DAVIS, Holt,
SIBL Executive A and others would attend investor conferences and other meetings
with FAs called “Top Producer Club” or “TPC” meetings where they would falsely
tout the assets and earnings of SIBL’s investments, falsely tout SIBL’s investment
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strategy and deceive both the investors and FAs as to the role Holt played in the
“management” of SIBL’s investment portfolio.

(bb) InDecember2008, Holt’s research analysts began to make further inquiry
of Holt regarding the quantity and the quality of the assets that made up SIBL’s Tier
III. During that same month, Holt led several meetings with her research analysts
wherein she would purport to inform the analysts as to some of the content of SIBL’s
Tier III. Specifically, Holt explained the evolution of Tier III from a segment of
SIBL’s portfolio in the 1990s that contained mostly futures, options and currencies,
to its current content which was purportedly geared toward larger holdings of real
estate and private equity. Holt explained that Tier III was composed of 30-40%
private equity and real estate and 10-12% cash. She further explained that SIBL had
conducted private equity and real estate deals that had been “very profitable.” In fact,
she cited one transaction involving “two islands and one club” that Stanford had
acquired and “got a very good deal.” Because of this, Holt explained, Tier 11l was “up
7% mid-year.” Holt told her research analysts that “we are restructuring Tier Il and
that will happen as early as January 2009.”

(¢) Inmid-2008, Stanford, DAVIS and other conspirators were desperately
seeking a fraudulent mechanism whereby they could artificially inflate SIBL’s assets
and thereby further conceal the fact that, undisclosed to investors, Stanford had made
approximately $2 billion in loans to himself; that many if not all of private equity
investments in Tier ITI were either insolvent or losing money badly, and that the touted
returns on investment had been fictitious. As such, Stanford, DAVIS, Lopez, Kuhrt
and other conspirators designed a real estate transaction wherein they would falsely
inflate and convert an approximate $65 million dollar real estate fransaction in
Antigua into a purported $3.2 billion dollar asset of SIBL merely through a series of
related party property flips through business entities controlled by Stanford. From
approximately May 2008 through November 2008, Stanford, DAVIS, Lopez,
Kuhrt,SIBL Executive A, SFG Attorney A and other conspirators participated in
documenting elements of this bogus real estate in the books and records of SIBL
designed to fraudulently add billions of dollars in value to SIBL’s financial statements.

(dd) On January 14, 2009, the SEC served, through Outside Attorney A,
investigatory subpoenas to DAVIS and Holt seeking testimony and documents related
to SIBL’s investment portfolio. Stanford also was served an SEC subpoena through
Outside Attorney A. Outside Attorney A understood that the SEC inquiry would
require the subpoenaed individuals to make a complete and transparent presentation
to the SEC regarding all of the assets related to SIBL’s CD program.
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(ee) OnJanuary 21,2009, Outside Attorney Amet at the SIBL airplane hangar
in Miami, Florida, to discuss the SEC investigation with Stanford, DAVIS, Holt, SIBL
Executive A, SFG Attorney A and others to discuss who could make the presentation
to the SEC. At that meeting, despite the knowledge that Stanford and DAVIS were
in the best position to disclose the assets in the Tier I1I portfolio, Stanford, DAVIS,
Holt, Outside Attorney A, SIBL Executive A and SFG Attorney A all agreed that
Outside Attorney A would seek to convince the SEC that Holt and SIBL Executive A
were the best individuals to present testimony and evidence to the SEC as to SIBL’s
entire investment portfolio. The participants also agreed to participate in a series of
meetings in Miami, Florida during the week of February 2, 2009, to bring Holt and
SIBL Executive A “up to speed on Tier 3" before the SEC presentation.

(f) On January 22, 2008, Outside Attorney A met in Houston, Texas with
several SEC attorneys in Houston, Texas to discuss issues related to the SEC
investigation. The SEC attorneys reiterated that their investigation was seeking to
determine where and how the entire portfolio of SIBL assets were invested and
managed. Outside Attorney A falsely maintained that Stanford and DAVIS did not
“micro-manage” the portfolio but that Holt and SIBL Executive A were the “better
people to explain the details” about SIBL’s entire portfolio. As a result of Outside
Attorney A’s misleading statements, the SEC attorneys agreed to postpone the
testimony of Stanford and DA VIS and to take the testimony of SIBL Executive A and
Holt on February 9-10, 2009, respectively. Outside Attorney A also falsely informed
the SEC attorneys at this meeting that SIBL was “not a criminal enterprise.”

(gg) In the last week of January 2009, DAVIS met with King in Antigua. By
that time, SIBL was facing increasing regulatory scrutiny from the SEC, and Stanford,
Holt and DA VIS, had received subpoenas from the SEC. King appeared very stressed.
King related that he had again been contacted by the SEC. King asked DAVIS if “we
were going to make it?” which meant whether the fraud they had been engaged in was
going to be exposed. DAVIS informed King that he thought they were going to be ok.

(hh) On January 27, 2009, Outside Attorney A contacted DAVIS, Holt and
SIBL Executive A and informed them when Holt and SIBL Executive A responded
to the SEC inquiry they would be required to present “positive proof” regarding all of
the assets of SIBL including the three tiers, that they needed to “rise to the occasion,”
and that “our livelihood depends on it.”

(ii)  On February 3, 4, 5 and 6, 2009, DAVIS met with Holt, SFG Attorhey
A, SIBL Executive A, Outside Attorney A, and ultimately, Stanford on February 5,
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and others, at SFG’ s office in Miami, Florida to discuss the testimony that Holt and
SIBL Executive A would provide to the SEC during the week of February 9, 2009.
During these meetings Holt disclosed that the value of the assets she actually managed
in Tier II totaled approximately $350 million, down from $850 million in June of
2008. At these meetings DAVIS further revealed that the purported value of Tier I1I
of SIBL’s investment portfolio was made up of: real estate valued at in excess of $3
billion which allegedly had been acquired earlier that year by SIBL for less than $90
million; $1.6 billion in “loans” to Stanford; and various other private equity
investments. Several of the Miami meeting participants acknowledged that if this
disclosure was accurate, then the bank was insolvent. During the February 5, 2009
session, Stanford falsely informed the participants that despite what they had just been
told, SIBL had “at least $850 million more in assets than liabilities.”

(jj) Later in the day of February 5, 2009, Stanford, DAVIS and Outside

Attorney A attended a separate meeting where Stanford acknowledged that SIBL’s
assets and financial health had been misrepresented to investors, and were overstated

in SIBL’s financials.
(kk) On the morning of February 10, 2009, prior to Holt’s testimony before
the SEC in Fort Worth, Texas, in an effort to continue to obstruct the SEC

investigation, DAVIS spoke with Holt by telephone and told her to only disclose to
SEC investigators her knowledge of Tier II investments.

(1)  During her testimony to the SEC on February 10, 2009, in addition to
failing to disclose the Miami meetings and participants which had occurred the prior
week, Holt falsely stated in her SEC testimony that she was unaware of the assets and
allocations of assets in Tier III of SIBL’s portfolio.

Breach of Plea Agreement

18. Ifthe defendant fails in any way to fulfill completely all of his obligations
under this Agreement, the United States will be released from its obligations
hereunder, and the defendant’s plea and sentence will stand. If at any time the
defendant retains, conceals, or disposes of assets in violation of this Agreement, or if

the defendant knowingly withholds evidence or is otherwise not completely truthful
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with the United States, then the United States may ask the Court to set aside his guilty
plea and reinstate prosecution. Any information and documents that have been
disclosed by the defendant, whether prior to or subsequent to execution of this
Agreement, and all leads derived therefrom, will be used against the defendant in any
prosecution,
Forfeiture

19. Defendant agrees to forfeit all property which constitutes or is derived
from proceeds traceable to the violations charged in Counts One and Two of the
information. Defendant stipulates and agrees that the factual basis for his guilty pléa
supports the forfeiture of at least $1,000,000,000 (one billion dollars). Defendant
agrees to a personal money judgment for $1,000,000,000 (one billion dollars) against
Him and in favor of the United States of America. Defendant represents that he will
make a full and complete disclosure of all assets over which he exercises direct or
indirect control, or in which he has any financial intere;t. Defendant stipulates and
admits that one or more of the conditions set forth in 21 U.S.C. § 853(p) exists.
Defendant agrees to forfeit any of Defendant’s property, or Defendant’s interest in any
property, up to the value of any unpaid portion of the money judgment, until the
money judgment is fully satisfied. Defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to pass
clear title to forfeitable and substitute assets to the United States, including but not
limited to surrendering title, signing a consent decree, stipulating facts regarding the

21



transfer of title and basis for the forfeiture, and signing any other documents necessary
to effectuate such transfer.

20. Defendant agrees to the entry of a preliminary order of forfeiture and
consents to the preliminary order of forfeiture becoming final as to the Defendant
immediately following this guilty plea pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 32.2(b)(3).
Defendant waives the right to challenge the forfeiture of property in any manner,
including by direct appeal or in a collateral proceeding.

Complete Agreement

21. This Agreement, consisting of 23 pages, together with the attached letter
agreement dated April 21, 2009, constitutes the complete plea agreement between the
United States, the defendant, and his counsel. No promises or representations have
been made by the United States except as set forth in writing in this Agreement. The
defendant acknowledges that no threats have been made against him and that he is

pleading guilty freely and voluntarily because he is guilty.
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22.  Any modification of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by all

parties.

Filed at Houston, Texas, on August 27, 2009.

Je&j}es M. Davfs
Defendant

Subscribed and sworn to before me on August 27, 2009.

By: p AV (okccacho
Deputy United States District Clerk

oot

David Finn
Assistant U.S. Attorney Attorney for Defendant

APPROVED:

Tim Johnson

By:

Steven A, Tyrrell
Chief
Fraud Section, Criminal Division

Department W

Paul E. Pelletier
Principal Deputy Chief
Jack B. Patrick

Senior Litigation Counsel
Matthew Klecka

Trial Attorney
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U.S. Department of Justice

1400 New York Avenue
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 353-7693

April 21, 2009

VIA FEDEX and EMAIL
David Finn, Esq.

Milner & Finn

. 2828 North Harwood Street
Suite 1950, Lock Box 9
Dallas, TX 75201

Re:  Davis Plea Agreement

Dear Mr. Finn:

This letter sets forth the terms of the plea agreement between your client, James Davis,
and the United States, by and through the Fraud Section of the Criminal Division of the
Department of Justice and the United States Attomey’s Office for the Southem District of Texas
(hereinafter referred to as the “United States™), regarding your client’s involvement with Stanford
Group, Inc., Stanford International Bank, Ltd., and related entities including the predecessor
bank, Guardian Trust, from at least 1989 through the present. The terms of this “Agreement” are

as follows:

L. Davis agrees to waive prosecution by indictment and to plead guilty to three
counts of a Criminal Information, charging Davis: in Count 1 with conspiracy to violate the
following laws: Securities fraud, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b)
and 78ff{a), and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; wire fraud, in —Fupa_

violation of Title 18, United States Code s|S’c}:rtioxl 1343; mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, ﬂ Yo

United States Code, Section 1341; anﬁ:o struc?ﬁ;? a proceeding before gt%e {Sec jties and 7
505; all in W(Z) _

Exchange Commission, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sectio
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371; in Count 2 with.l;gaﬂ ﬁ'aug‘,‘ in violation o
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2; and in Count 3 with ob§TUd

ot .
proceeding before g]g Securities and Exchange Commission, in violation of Title 18, United @L/
i "1505 and 2, The Criminal Information also includes a forfeiture P A

[

States Code, Sections
allegation, as further discussed herein.

2. Davis is aware that his sentence will be imposed by the Court. Davis understands
and agrees that federal sentencing law requires the Court to impose a sentence that is reasonable
and that the Court must consider the United States Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements
(hereinafter “Sentencing Guidelines™) in effect at the time of the sentencing in determining that

reasonable sentence. Davis acknowledges and understands that the Court will compute an
advisory sentence under the United States Sentencing Guidelines and that the applicable



guidelines will be determined by the Court relying in part on the results of a Pre-Sentence
Investigation by the Court’s Probation Department, which investigation will commence after the
guilty plea has been entered. Davis is also aware that, under certain circumstances, the Court
may depart from the advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed, and may raise or
lower that advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. Davis is further aware and
understands that while the Court is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined
under the Sentencing Guidelines, it is not bound to impose a sentence within that range. Davis
understands that the facts that determine the offense level will be found by the Court at the time
of senténcing and that in making those determinations the Court may consider any reliable
evidence, including hearsay, as well as the provisions or stipulations in this Agreement. The
United States and Davis agres to recommend that the Sentencing Guidelines should apply and
that pursuant to United States v. Booker, the Guidelines provide a fair and just resolution based
on the facts of this case, and that no downward departures or variances are appropriate other than
the reduction for acceptance of responsibility noted in paragraph 12 and the potential for a
reduction under the terms set forth in paragraph 9. The Court is permitted to tailor the ultimate
sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such sentence may be either more severe or less
severe than the Sentencing Guidelines’ advisory sentence. Knowing these facts, Davis
understands and acknowledges that the Court has the authority to impose any sentence within and
up to the statutory maximum authorized by law for the offenses identified in paragraph 1 and that

Davis may not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the sentence imposed.

3. Davis also understands and acknowledges that as to Count 1, the Court may
impose a statutory maximum term of imprisonment of up to five (5) years. Davis understands
and acknowledges that as to Count 2, the Court may impose a statutory maximum term of
imprisonment of up to twenty (20) years. Davis understands and acknowledges that as to Count
3, the Court may impose a statutory maximum term of imprisonment of up to five (5) years. In
addition to any period of imprisonment as reflected above, the Court may also impose a period of
supervised release of up to three (3) years to commence at the conclusion of the period of
imprisonment. In addition to a term of imprisonment and supervised release, the Court may
impose a fine of up to the greater of $250,000, or twice the gross pecuniary gain or loss pursuant

to 18 U.S.C. § 3571(d).

4, Davis further understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any sentence
imposed under paragraph 3 of this Agreement, a special assessment in the total amount of $300
will be imposed on Davis. Davis agrees that any special assessment imposed shall be paid

immediately after sentencing.

5. Davis further understands and acknowledges that he (a) shall truthfully and
completely disclose all information with respect to the activities of himself and others concerning
all matters about which the United States inquires of him, which information can be used for any
purpose; (b) shall cooperate fully with the United States and any other law enforcement agency
designated by the United States; (c) shall attend all meetings at which the United States requests
his presence; (d) shall provide to the United States, upon request, any document, record, or other



tangible evidence relating to matters about which the United States or any designated law
enforcement agency inquires of him; (e) shall truthfully testify before the grand jury and at any
trial and other court proceeding with respect to any matters about which the United States may
request his testimony; (f) shall bring to the attention of the United States all crimes which he has
committed, and all administrative, civil, or criminal proceedings, investigations, or prosecutions
in which he has been or is a subject, target, party, or witness; and, (g) shall commit no further
crimes whatsoever. Moreover, any assistance Davis may provide to federal criminal investigators
shall be pursuant to the specific instructions and control of the United States and designated
investigators. In carrying out his obligations under this paragraph, Davis shall neither minimize
his own involvement nor fabricate, minimize or exaggerate the involvement of others.

6. Davis shall provide, when requested, the Probation Department and counsel for

" the United States with a full, complete and accurate personal financial statement listing all assets
under his direct or indirect control, including any assets he may have transferred or placed in the
control of others within the 10 year period prior to execution of this Agreement. If Davis
provides incomplete or untruthful statements in his personal financial statement, his action shall
be deemed a material breach of this Agreement and the United States shall be free to pursue all
appropriate charges against him notwithstanding any agreements to forbear from bringing

additional charges otherwise set forth in this Agreement.

7. Provided that Davis commits no new criminal offenses and provided he continues
to demonstrate an affirmative recognition and affirmative acceptance of personal responsibility
for his criminal conduct, the United States agrees that it will reccommend at sentencing that Davis
receive a three-level reduction for acceptance of responsibility pursuant to Section 3E1.1 of the
Sentencing Guidelines, based upon Davis’ recognition and affirmative and timely acceptance of
personal responsibility. The United States, however, will not be required to make this sentencing
recommiendation if Davis: (1) fails or refuses to timely enter his guilty plea and to make a full, .
accurate and complete disclosure to the United States and the Probation Department of the
circumstances surrounding the relevant offense conduct and his present financial condition; (2) is
found to have misrepresented facts to the United States prior to entering this Agreement; or A3)
commits any misconduct after entering into this Agreement, including but not limited to
committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, or making false statements or

misrepresentations to any governmental entity or official.

8. The United States reserves the right to inform the Court and the Probation
. Department of all facts pertinent to the sentencing process, including all relevant information
concerning the offenses committed, whether charged or not, as well as concerning Davis and
Davis’ background. Subject only to the express terms of any agreed-upon sentencing
recommendations contained in this Agreement, the United States further reserves the right to

make any recommendation as to the quality and quantity of punishment.

9. The United States reserves the right to evaluate the nature and extent of Davis’
cooperation and to make Davis’ cooperation, or lack thereof, known to the Court at the time of



sentencing. If, in the sole and unreviewable judgment of the United States, Davis’ cooperation is
of such quality and significance to the investigation or prosecution of other criminal matters as to
warrant the Court’s downward departure from the sentence required by the Sentencing
Guidelines, the United States may, at or before sentencing make, a motion pursuant to Title18,
United States Code, Section 3553(e), Section 5K1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines, or subsequent
to sentencing by motion pursuant to Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,
reflecting that Davis has provided substantial assistance and recommending a sentence reduction.
Davis acknowledges and agrees, however, that nothing in this Agreement may be construed to
require the United States to file such a motion and that the United States’ assessment of the
nature, value, truthfulness, completeness, and accuracy of Davis’ cooperation shall be binding on

Davis.

10.  Davis understands and acknowledges that the Court is under no obligation to grant
a motion by the United States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(e), 5K1.1
of the Sentencing Guidelines or Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, as referred
to in paragraph 9 of this Agreement, should the United States exercise its discretion to file such a

motion.

11.  Davis admits and acknowledges that the following facts are true and that the
United States could prove them at trial beyond a reasonable doubt:

That Davis’ participation in the conspiracy and scheme and artifice
resulted in a loss of more than $400,000,000;

b. That Davis’ offense involved more than two-hundred fifty (250) victims;
That a substantial part of Davis’ fraudulent scheme was committed from
outside the United States and otherwise involved sophisticated means;
d. That Davis’ offense affected the safety and soundness of a financial
institution and endangered the solvency or financial security of 100 or
more victims; and

That Davis abused a position of trust as Chief Financial Officer of
Stanford Group, Inc., and Stanford International Bank, Ltd.

a.

C.

12.  Based on the foregoing, the United States and Davis agree that although not
binding on the Probation Department or the Court, the applicable Sentencing Guidelines adjusted

offense level is as follows:

a, Section 2B1.1(a) - Base offense level for wire fraud offense 7
b. Section 2B1.1(b)(1)(K) - Loss of more than $400,000,000 30
c. Section 2B1.1(b)(2)(B) - More than 250 victims : 6
d. Section 2B1.1(b)(9)(C) & (D)- Substantial part of scheme

committed outside the United States and otherwise used

sophisticated means
e. Section 2B1.1(b)(14)(B) - Affecting safety and soundness



of a financial institution and endangering the solvency or
financial security of 100 or more victims
f Section 3B1.3 - Abuse of position of trust
Section 2B1.1(b)(14)(C) - Combination of enhancement
for more than 250 victims (+6) and enhancement for
safety and soundness of a financial institution and
endangering the solvency or financial security of 100
or more victims (+4) equals 10, therefore reduced to 8
h. Sections 3E1.1(a) and 3E1.1(b) Acceptance of
Responsibility (if applicable)

[SS I -

TOTAL OFFENSE LEVEL - ADJUSTED

13.  Davis agrees to forfeiture of all property, real or personal, which constitutes or is
derived from proceeds traceable to the violations of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (conspiracy to commit wire
and mail fraud) and 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud). Davis agrees that all such property is subject
{o criminal forfeiture pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) (incorporating 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C)),
as property constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as the result of
the conspiracy (Count 1) and mail fraud scheme (Count 2). In order to effectuate the forfeiture,
Davis agrees to the entry of a Consent Order of Forfeiture, in the form of a money judgment, of
$1,000,000,000.00 (one billion dollars). Davis acknowledges that the money judgment is subject
to forfeiture as proceeds of illegal conduct or substitute assets for property otherwise subject to

forfeiture.

14.  Davis also agrees that he shall assist the United States in all proceedings, whether

rfeiture to the United States of all rights, title, and

administrative or judicial, involving the fo
interest, regardless of their nature or form, in the assets which Davis has agreed to forfeit, and

any other assets, including real and personal property, cash and other monetary instruments,
wherever located, which Davis or others to his knowledge have accumulated as a result of illegal
activities. Such assistance shall include Davis’ consent to the enfry of any order deemed by the
United States as necessary to effectuate said forfeitures. In addition, Davis agrees to identify as
being subject to forfeiture and/or restitution all such assets, and to assist in the transfer of such
property to the United States by delivering to the United States upon the United States’ request,
all necessary and appropriate documentation with respect to said assets, including consents to
forfeiture, quit claim deeds and any and all other documents necessary to deliver good and
marketable title to said property. To the extent the assets are no longer within the possession and
control or name of Davis, Davis agrees that the United States may seek substitute assets within
the meaning of 21 U.S.C. § 853. Davis further agrees to assist the United States in recovering all
victim assets, wherever located, including but not limited to, executing requests for repatriation
of said assets, wherever located, and facilitating the entry of court orders or treaty requests
regarding said assets, wherever located. Davis further agrees not to alienate, transfer or encumber
any asset over which he has direct or indirect control unless otherwise agreed to by the United



States or permitted by order of the Court. Failure to comply with the terms of this paragraph will
constitute a material breach of this agreement, _

15.  Davis knowingly and voluntarily agrees to waive any claim or defenses he may
have under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, including any claim of
excessive fine or penalty with respect to the forfeited assets or victim restitution. Davis further
knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to a jury trial on the forfeiture of said assets, waives
any statute of limitations with respect to the forfeiture of said assets, and waives any notice of
. forfeiture proceedings, whether administrative or judicial, against the forfeited assets. Davis

waives the requirements of Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 32.2 and 43(a) regarding notice
of the forfeiture in the charging instrument, announcement of the forfeiture at sentencing, and
incorporation of the forfeiture in the judgment. Davis acknowledges that he understands that the
forfeiture of assets is part of the sentence that may be imposed in this case and waives any failure
by the court to advise him of this, pursuant to Rule 11(b)(1)(3), at the time his guilty plea is

accepted.

16.  Davis acknowledges that because the offenses of conviction occurred after April
24, 1996, restitution is mandatory without regard to the Davis’ ability to pay and that the Court
must order Davis to pay restitution for the full loss caused by his criminal conduct pursuant to
Title 18, United States Code, Section 3663 A, provided, however, that the United States agrees
that the value of any property returned to victims through the forfeiture and remission process
shall be credited against any order of restitution due to victirns.

17.  Davis is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by the Court. Davis
is also aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing range or sentence that Davis may
receive, whether that estimate comes from Davis’ attorney, the United States, or the Probation
Department, is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on the United States, the Probation
Department or the Court. Davis further understands that any recommendation that the United
States makes to the Court as-to sentencing, whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, is
not binding on the Court and the Court may disregard the recommendation in its entirety. Davis
understands and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in paragraph 2 above, that Davis
may not withdraw his plea based upon the Court’s decision not to accept a sentencing
recommendation made by Davis, the United States, or a recommendation made jointly by both

Davis and the United States.

18,  Davis is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 affords Davis the
right to appeal the sentence imposed in this case, Acknowledging this, in exchange for the
undertakings made by the United States in this Agreement, Davis hereby waives all rights
‘conferred by Section 3742 to appeal any sentence imposed, including any forfeiture or restitution
ordered, or to appeal the manner in which the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds
the maximum permitted by statute. Davis further understands that nothing in this Agreement
shall affect the right of the United States and/or its duty to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United
States Code, Section 3742(b). If the United States appeals Davis’ sentence pursuant to Section

6



3742(b), however, Davis shall be released from this waiver of appellate rights. By executing this
Agreement, Davis acknowledges that he has discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this .
Agreement with his attorney. Davis further agrees, together with the United States, to request
that the district Court enter a specific finding that the Davis’ waiver of his right to appeal the

sentence to be imposed in this case was knowing and voluntary.

19.  Davis acknowledges that he has accepted this Agreement and decided to plead

guilty because he is in fact guilty. By entering this plea of guilty, the defendant waives any and

all right to withdraw his plea or to attack his conviction, either on direct appeal or collaterally, on

the ground that the Government has failed to produce any discovery material, Jencks Act -
material, exculpatory material pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), other than
information establishing the factual innocence of the defendant, and impeachment material
pursuant to Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), that has not already been produced as

of the date of the signing of this Agreement. »

20.  For purposes of criminal prosecution, this Agreement shall be binding and
enforceable upon the Fraud Section of the Criminal Division of the United States Department of
Justice and the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Texas. The United
States does not release Davis from any claims under Title 26, United States Code. Further, this
Agreement in no way limits, binds, or otherwise affects the rights, powers or duties of any state
or local law enforcement agency or any administrative or regulatory authority.

21.  Inthe event that Davis does not plead guilty or if Davis breaches this Agreement
by failing to comply with any terms hereto, Davis agrees and understands that he thereby waives
any protection afforded by Section 1B1.8(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines and Rule 11(f) of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, and that any statements made by him as part of his
cooperation with the United States, or otherwise, both prior or subsequent to signing this
Agreement, will be admissible against him without any limitation in any civil or criminal -
proceeding and Davis shall assert no claim under the United States Constitution, any statute,
Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, or any other federal rule that such statements or any
leads therefrom should be suppressed. By entering into this Agreement, Davis intends to waive

all rights in the foregoing respects.



22.  This Agreement is the entire agreement and underst
States and Davis. There are no other agreements, promises, represent.

By: -

By:

anding between the United
ations or understandings.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN A, TYRRELL, CHIEF
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
AL DIVISION, SEGTION

2.

PAUL E. PELLETIER, Principal Deputy Chief
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
CRIMINAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION

TIMOTHY JOHNSON

. ACTING/UNITED STAWY '
AL

GREGHG COSTX, /
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

J DAVIS

Date:

DA FINN
COUNSEL FOR JAMES DAVIS
Date:




